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Independent auditor’s report
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Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Quantgroup Holding Limited (“the
Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 4 to 69, which comprise the
consolidated statements of financial position of the Group and the statements of financial
position of the Company as at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025, the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statements of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the
years ended 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and the five months ended 31 May 2025 and
notes, including material accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s
and the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025 and
of the Group'’s consolidated financial performance and the Group’s consolidated cash flows
for each of the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and the five months ended 31
May 2025 in accordance with the basis of preparation and presentation set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”") .Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements” section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.




Emphasis of Matter — Basis of Preparation and Presentation

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the
basis of preparation and presentation. The consolidated financial statements are prepared for
the purpose of the preparation of a prospectus by the directors of the Company in connection
with the initial public offering of shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not
be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other matter

We draw attention to the fact that the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the five months ended 31 May 2024 and any of the related notes
have not been audited.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation and
presentation set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements and for such internal
control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concemn, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. The report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.



As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors of the Company regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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Consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May

Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB000  RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB*000 RMB'000
(unaudited)

REVEITR i v wwes s wrams svess sobse sase s s 4 475285 529,669 993,029 299,851 414,140
Costofsales ................cooiiii.. (162,528) (162.014) (31,138) (11,085  (13.,794)
Grossprofit .......................... 312,757 367,655 961,891 288,766 400,346
Other income or loss.net ................ 5 3,315 4,517 7,285 152 264
Research and development expenses ....... (60.691) (46,916) (37.423) (14,780) (21.859)
General and administrative expenses ... .... (115,053) (68.034) (114.572)  (48.,285) (48.,573)
Sales and marketing expenses ............ (47,921) (109.447) (470,348) (111,358)  (97,365)
Impairment (loss)/gain on financial assets ...  6(c) (9.436)  (2,635) 5,280 (3,731) (1,722)
Profit from operations ................. 82,971 145,140 352,113 110,764 231,091
Net finance costs .. ..o, . 6(a) (46) (814)  (1.573) (732) (625)
Changes in the carrying amount of financial

instruments with preferred rights ........ 24(b)  (84,083) (141,561) (155.,718)  (63.084)  (69.392)
Changes in fair value of financial assets

measured at fair value through profit or

0SS i (123) (13) — — —
(Loss)/profit before taxation ............ (1,281) 2,752 194,822 46,948 161,074
Income tax credit/(expense) .............. 7 998 891 (47.694)  (12,257) (35.443)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period ......... (283) 3,643 147,128 34,691 125,631




Consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (continued)
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB000 RMB*000
(unaudited)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period . . . ... (283) 3,643 147,128 34,691 125,631
Other comprehensive income for the
year/period
Items that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
Exchange difference on translation into
presentation currency ... ........... 4) 3 (7) (10) (68)
Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
— net movement in fair value reserve
(hotirreoyeling) « sou svn vuv vas v s 10,199 — — — —
Item that may be reclassified to profit or
loss:
Exchange difference on translation into
presentation currency . ............. — — 30 — 251
Total comprehensive income for the
year/period ..................... 9,912 3,646 147,151 34,681 125,814
(Loss)/profit for the year/period |
attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company . .. (281) 3,643 147,128 34,691 125,631
Non-controlling interests .. ........... 2) — — — —
(283) 3,643 147,128 34,691 125,631
Total comprehensive income for the
year/period attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company . . . 9,914 3,646 147,151 34,681 125,814
Non-controlling interests ............. (2) — = — —
9,912 3,646 147,151 34,681 125,814
(Loss)/ earnings per share .. ......... 10
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) ........ (0.06) 0.73 29.43 6.94 25.13

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of financial position

(Expressed in Renminbi)

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment . ... ..

Intanibleassetsie . o vn 5 ab 5 a5 aw 5

Right-of-use assets ...............

Financial assets at fair value through
profitorloss ..................

Defeirred tax assets c. cowows von o s

Current assets

Prepaid expenses and other
Feesivables <. v wawn e wes s

Trade receivables ................

Regtiicted Gash cuu so s vres som s

Cash and cash equivalents .........

Other current assets ..............

Current liabilities
Trade payables ..................
Contract liabilities ...............
Bank and other borrowings ........
Lease liabilities! .. ¢ o v v o i
Financial instruments with preferred
PIERDS ocs wne oy sown wiass e s s
Income tax payables ..............
Accrued expenses and other current
HHabilies s wavey von s v wos wom
PEOVASION: o v oe o s smsmasts 0 awevians

Net current liabilities ... .........
Total assets less current
liabilities ....................

Non-current liabilities
Bank and other borrowings ........
Lease liabilities .................

NET LIABILITIES .............

As at 31 December Asat 31 May
Note 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
11 1,666 1.266 785 696
12 1,694 2,135 2,317 2,194
13 5,436 21,678 16,773 14,901
13 = — s
14 1,003 1,903 2,505 3,238
15 33,761 — — —
_ 43,573 26,982 22,380 21,029
17 20,104 28,081 26.560 42,711
16 258,227 443,254 638,416 743,823
18(a) 3,038 — — —
18(a) 77.180 110,989 313,936 428,050
15 — 4,761 — —
358,549 587.085 978,912 1,214,584
19 30,434 31,886 62,285 39,558
21 18,877 39.642 5,012 38,763
22 — 23,000 18,000 36,000
23 4,386 4,352 4.457 4,482
24 1,415,614 1,557,17F5 1,712,893 1,782,285
14 5 8 33,663 31,482
20 21,933 29,927 53,741 55,486
111 — - —
1,491,360 1,685,990 1,890,051 1,988,056
(1,132,811)  (1,098,905)  (911,139)  (773,472)
(1.089.238)  (1.071.923)  (888.759)  (752.443)
22 = 2,835 7,665 7,729
3 L — L e 11,806
(1,089,379) (1,093,015) (908,916) (771,978)




Consolidated statements of financial position
(Expressed in Renminbi)

As at 31 December Asat31 May
Note 2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Capital and reserves
Sharecapital .. .................. 26(a) 350 350 350 350
Reserves ....................... 26(b) (1,089,729)  (1,093,365) (909,266) (772,328)
TOTAL DEFICIT .............. (1,089,379)  (1,093,015) (908,916) (771,978)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 November 2025,

. =
/ l b %" ~
\ /
Zhou Hao Song Yang
Director Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements,
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Statements of financial position of the Company
(Expressed in Renminbi)

As at 31 December As at 31 May
Note 2022 2023 2024 2025
..o N ikl DU BMBAN OO0
Non-Current asset
Investment in a subsidiary............cocovivieiivverennnnn, 1 — — 72 72
___________ T 2 T2
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents ............... 95 15 42 30
Prepaid expenses and other receivables . .. . . 1,021 1,041 3,266 3,457
_____ L6 LOs6 3308 3487
Current liabilities
Accrued expenses and other current
Habilities. . ..ovvveeirisiiereieeee st s 20 19,949 27,630 47,249 50,134
Financial instruments with preferred rights .. 24 1,415,614 1,557,175 1,712,893 1,782,285
1,435,563 1,584,805 1,760,142 1,832,419
Net current liabilities .................. (1,434,447) _(1,583,749) (1,756,834) (1828,932)
Total assets less current liabilities .. ... ... (1,434,447) (1,583,749) (1,756,762) ( 1,828,860)
NET LIABILITIES .................... (1,434,447) (1,583,749) (1,756,762) (1,828,860)
Capital and reserves
Share capital.........ocoovvvovivireieeeeieeeereeees 26(a) 350 350 350 350
RSV s sumivsvisiivsinassonsenspryananesuemesassesmsonsssssss 26(b) (1,434,797)  (1,584,099) (1,757,112) (1,829,210)
TOTALDEFICIT ..................... (1,434,447) (1,583,749) (1,756,762) (1,828,860)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 19 November 2025.

4 (/:f (&

Zhou Hao Song Yang
Director Director

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of changes in equity
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Balance at

1 January 2022 ..

Changes in equity
for 2022:

Loss and other
comprehensive
income for the

year
Recogn

ition of

financial

instruments with

preferred rights . . .
Issuance of shares . . .
Share-based

compensation .. ..
Disposal of

subsi

diaries .. ... .

Balance at
31 December

2022

and

1 January 2023 ..
Changes in equity
for 2023:
Profit and other
comprehensive
income for the

year

Share-based
compensation . . ..

Balance at
31 December

2023

and

1 January 2024 ..

Changes in equity
for 2024:

Profit and other
comprehensive
income for the

year

Share-based
compensation . . ..

Balance at
31 December

2024

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Fair value Non-
Share Capital reserve Other Exchange Retained controlling  Total
Note capital reserve  (non-recycling) reserve reserve  earnings Total interests deficit
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 26(a)) (Note 26(b))  (Note26(b))  (Note 26(b)) (Note 26(b))
— 175,000 (10,199) 23,176 — 28,088 216,065 (3) 216,062
— — 10,199 — {4) (281) 9,914 2) 9912
24(b) — — — (1,331,531) — — (1,331,531) — (1.331,531)
26(a) 350 — — — — — 350 — 350
25 — — —_ 15,823 =z — 15.823 15,823
- - — — — — — 5 5
350 175,000 — (1,292,532) (4) 27.807 (1,089.379) — (1,089.379)
— — — — 3 3,643 3,646 — 3,646
25 — — — (7.282) — — (7,282) — (7,282
350 175,000 — (1,299,814) (1) 31450 (1,093.015) — (1,093,015)
— — — — 23 147,128 147,151 — 147,151
25 — — — 36,948 — — 36,948 — 36,948
350 175,000 — (1,262,866) 22 178,578 (908,916) — (908.916)




Consolidated statements of changes in equity (continued)
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Fair value Non-
Share Capital reserve Other Exchange Retained controlling  Total
Note capital reserve  (non-recycling) reserve reserve  earnings Total interests equity

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 26(a)) (Note 26(b))  (Note 26(b)) (Note 26(b)) (Note 26(b))
Balance at 31

December 2024

and 1 January

2028cs i v s 4 . 3:’30 ) 175,000 - (1,262,866) 22 178,578  (908.916) (908.916)
Changes in equity

for the five months

ended 31 May

2025:
Profit and other

comprehensive

income for the

PEHOE < v oy wan 4 — — — — 183 125,631 125814 — 125,814
Share-based

compensation............. 25 - — — 11,124 - - — 11,124 — 11,124
Balance at 31 May

2025 . v 350 175,000 — (1,251,742) 205 304,209 (771,978) — (771,978)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
Fair value Non-
Share Capital reserve Other Exchange Retained controlling  Total
% capital reserve  (non-recycling)  reserve reserve  earnings Total interests equity
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB*000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

(unaudited) (Note 26(a)) (Note 26(b))  (Note 26(b))  (Note 26(b)) (Note 26(b))
Balance at 31

December 2023

and 1 January

2024 o von can van

— (1.299.814) (1) 31,450 (1.093,015) —

Changes in equity
for the five months
ended 31 May
2024:

Profit and other
comprehensive
income for the

7, o1 LN — — — — (10) 34,691 34,681 - 34,681
Share-based

compensation.............25 — — — 17,343 - 17,343 - 17.343

Balance at 31 May
2024 ... ... 350 175,000 - (1,282,471) (11) 66,141 (1,040,991) — (1,040,991)

The accompanying notes form part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statements of cash flows
(Expressed in Renminbi)

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating activities
(Loss)/profit before taxation .. .......
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and

EORIPIIEHL & v 5 svanes svas s s o
Amortisation of intangible assets ... ..
Depreciation of right-of-use assets . . . .
Impairment loss/(gain) on financial

ASBEE Y & s va v en e s s sy wEw
FIanERieosth: von ix vas san swn s s
Changes in fair value of financial

assets measured at fair value through

profit O loss o. v v wn v ses on s o
Changes in financial instruments with

preferred rights . ................
Share-based compensation ..........
Dividends received from financial

assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income ...........
Gain on derecognition of long-term

payables ......... ... ... 0.
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries .. ...
Gain on compensations received . .. ..
Loss on provision made for a pending

litigation .......... ...
Loss on disposals of property, plant

and equipment . . .............. ..
Exchange (gain)/loss ...............
Changes in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in restricted

cash ...
Increase in trade receivables ... ... ...
(Increase)/decrease in prepaid expenses

and other current assets . ..........
Decrease in inventories . .. ..........
Increase/(decrease) in trade

DERADIEE o s oo wars s soson s s o
Increase/(decrease) in contract

liabilities ............ .. ..
Decrease in provisions .............
(Decrease)/increase in accrued

expenses and other liabilities ... ...

Years ended 31 December

Five months ended 31 May

Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB*000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

(1,281) 2,752 194,822 46,948 161,074

11 1,208 618 522 254 102
12 155 230 305 118 132
13 10,646 6,925 4,566 1,885 1,872
6(c) 9,436 2.635 (5.280) 3,731 1,722
6(a) 163 874 1,587 745 674
123 13 - — —

24 84,083 141,561 155,718 63,084 69,392
25 15,823 (7.282) 36,948 17,343 11,124
(2,657) — — _ =
5 = (176) (29) — (24)
29 (438) — — — —
15(ii) — (1,450) — — _
111 - - s —

72 — 3 3 —
5 — (6) 51 3) 247
(3.038) 3,038 — - _
(98.324)  (187,651)  (189,880) (232.696) (107,129)
(13,396) (7,893) 2,758 (11,043)  (15,939)

40 — — — —
8,132 1,630 29,602 14,798 (22,703)

6,574 20,765 (34,630) 2,303 33,751

— (111) — — —

(16,759) 8,049 23,759 18,068 1,745




Consolidated statements of cash flows (continued)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

Cash generated from/(used in)

operating activities
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for additions to property,
plant and equipment .............
Proceeds from sale of property, plant
and EGUIPMENt ..« con sowass s swan
Prepayments for acquisition of
properties
Recovering prepayments for
acquisition of properties and
compensations

Payments for additions to intangible
ASERS . score wvare wwmoe woss wpen s e s
Dividends received from financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income ... ........
Recovering loans receivable from third
parties
Proceeds from disposal of financial

assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income ...........
New loans to related parties .........
Loan principals received from related
DATEE & v won s waw ey 1% i 2w
Intergstreceived. oo s v vas wan s
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries,
net of cash disposed .............

Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary
in previous year

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities .. ............

Years ended 31 December

Five months ended 31 May

Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB*000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
763 (15,479) 220,822 (74,462) 136,040
14(a) = 6)  (14,641) (8)  (38357)
i, o MBARS) | AOGISL KTAAT0) | 91683
11 (355) (230) (46) — (13)
11 6 12 2 2 —
15Gi)  (29,000) — . .
15(ii) — 30,450 = — —
12 (1.414) (671) (487) (368) (9)
2,657 — — —_
4,000 - — — —
51,000 — — — —
(160) = — — =
160 — — — —
1,028 = — — —
29 579 — — — —
15 10,000 — 4,761 4,761 ==
38,501 29,561 4,230 4,395 (22)



Consolidated statements of cash flows (continued)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

Years ended 31 December

Five months ended 31 May

Note 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB*000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares . . . .. 137 211 — — —
Proceeds from bank and other
borrowings .................... 18(b) 25,835 25,830 4,903 18,064
Payment of bank and other
DOTEGWITES o vt mss sad o s & 18(b) - - — (26,000) (5,500) —
IhterestPaid: wu s wen s s wam saw 4 18(b) (234) (687) (353) (359)
Guarantee feepaid ................ 18(b) — (69) — —
Capital elements of lease rentals
paid ... 18(b) (9,956) (5.086) (5,293) (1,499) (661)
Interest elements of lease rentals
167 1 (4 U 18(b) (163) (571) (900) (392) (315)
Listing expense paid ............... (585) (305) (401) (94) (190)
Net cash (used in)/generated from
financing activities ............. (10,567) 19,781  (7A51)  (2,935) 16,539
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents ............... 28,697 33.857 202,960 (73,010) 114,200
Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year/period .. ... 48,483 77,180 110,989 110,989 313,936
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes....................... — (48) (13) (41) (86)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end
of the year/period .............. 18(a) 77,180 110,989 313,936 37,938 428,050

The accompanying notes form part of the consclidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Expressed in Renminbi)

1 Basis of preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements

Quantgroup Holding Limited (the “Company™) was mncorporated on 31 March 2022 in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act, Cap 22 (Law 3 0f 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and has not carried on any business since the date of its
incorporation save for the Group’s reorganisation below. The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group™)
are principally engaged in operation of online marketplaces and other business including advertisement placement
and provision of matching services for financial mnstitutions (the “Listing Business™).

As of 31 May 2025 and the report date, the Company s subsidiaries are as follows:

Particulars of
registered/issued
Place and date of and Held by the Held by the
Company names incorporation paid-up capital Company subsidiary
Directly held
Quantgroup Technology HK Limited @ Hong Kong SAR. Issued: HKD1 100% -
(HRALIR (B AlRLST) 20 April 2022 paid-up: nil
QUANTGROUP TECHNOLOGY PTE. LTD.® Singapore, Registered: 100% —
27 June 2024 USD10.000
paid-up:
USD10.000
Indirectly held
Hangzhou Quant Group Technology Co.. Ltd. Hangzhou, Registered: - 100%
(H N IR R TR 24 5] o 05 May 2022 USD200,000
paid-up: nil
Beijing Huijucheng Technology Development Co.., Lid. Beijing, Registered: — 100%
(b S el 3 R R 43 ] )i 30 May 2022 RMBI1.000.000
paid-up: nil
Hainan Quant Technology Co., Ltd. Hainan, Registered: - 100%
(BRI LIRBHE AR 5] )oe 28 June 2023  RMB1.000,000
paid-up: nil
Quantgroup Technology Inc @ California, Registered: — 100%
03 March 2025 USD100.000
paid-up:
USD100.000
Held through Contractual Arrangement
Quant Digit Tech Co., Ltd. Beijing, Registered: — 100%
(B FRERRE AR 2 5] )0 03 November RMB200.000,000
2014 paid-up:
RMB175.000.000
Beijing Unidance Intelligent Information Technology Co.. Ltd. Beijing, Registered: — 100%
(FEETF B B ArEIR A E] o 28 March  RMB200,000.000
2017 paid-up:
RMB200,000.000

Notes:

(i)  These companies are limited liability companies established in the PRC. The English translation of the names is for reference only. The
official names of these entities are in Chinese.

(ii) There are no statutory financial statements prepared for all these companies during the three financial years ended December 31, 2024
and the five months ended May 31. 2025 (the "Track Record Period").
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Prior to the incorporation of the Company and the completion of the reorganisation as described below, the
principal business of the Group has been operated under Quant Digit Tech Co.. Ltd. (f-F#FFHIHEIR 4 H],
“Liangzi Data™), and its subsidiaries which are controlled by Mr. Zhou Hao.

To rationalise the corporate structure in preparing for the initial public offering of the Company s shares on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, the Group underwent a reorganisation (the
“Reorganisation”) to establish the Company as the ultimate holding company of the companies comprising the
Group. See “History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure™ in the Prospectus for further details.

As certain business conducted by Liangzi Data and its subsidiary is subject to foreign investment restrictions
under the relevant PRC laws and regulations, as part of the Reorganisation, Hangzhou Quant Group Technology
Co.. Ltd. (the “WFOL™). an indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a series of
contractual arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements™) with Liangzi Data and its registered shareholders to
operate the Listing Business.

The equity interests of Liangzi Data (the “VIE™) are legally held by a company who acts as registered owner
of the VIE on behalf of the WFOE. The contractual agreements including an exclusive business cooperation
agreement, an exclusive option agreement, an equity pledge agreement and a power of attorney. Pursuant to the
Contractual Agreements, the WFOE has the power to direct activities that most significantly impact the VIE and
the VIE’s subsidiaries, including appointing key management, setting up operating policies, exerting financial
controls and transferring profit or assets out of the VIE and the VIE's subsidiaries at its discretion. The WFOE
considers that they also have the right to substantially all of the economic benefits of the VIE and have an exclusive
option to purchase all or part of the equity interests in the VIE when and to the extent permitted by the PRC laws
and regulations at the minimum price possible.

The directors of the Company have determined that the Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with the
PRC laws and regulations and are legally enforceable.

Upon the completion of the Reorganisation on 23 June 2022, the Company became the holding company of
the companies now comprising the Group. The Reorganisation principally involved interspersing the Company and
the WFOE, which are newly formed entities with no substantive operations, as the new holding companies of the
Listing Business. There were no changes in the economic substance of the ownership and the Listing Businesses
before and after the Reorganisation. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
and presented as a continuation of the financial information of the Listing Businesses with the assets and
liabilities recognised and measured at their historical carrying amounts prior to the Reorganisation. Intra-
group balances, transactions and unrealised gain/loss on intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statements of
changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows of the Group for the Track Record Period as set
out in this report include the financial performance and cash flows of the companies now comprising the Group as
if the current group structure had been in existence throughout the Track Record Period, or since their respective
dates of incorporation or establishment, whichever is a shorter period. The consolidated statements of financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and as at 31 May 2025 as set out in this report have
been prepared to present the financial position of the companies now comprising the Group as of those dates as if
the current group structure had been in existence as of the respective dates, taking into account the respective dates
of incorporation or establishment, where applicable.

All companies now comprising the Group have adopted 31 December as their financial year end date.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB™). As the Group’s
first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, IFRS 1 “First-
time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards™ has been applied save for certain presentation and
disclosure provisions therein. The date of transition to IFRS Accounting Standards was 1 January 2022. Further
details of the material accounting policies adopted are set out in Note 2.

The TASB has issued a number of new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards. For the purpose of
preparing these consolidated financial statements, the Group has consistently applied all applicable new
and revised IFRS Accounting Standards throughout the Track Record Period. The Group has not adopted
any new accounting standards or amendments issued but not yet effective for the accounting period beginning |
January 2025 which are set out in Note 32.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange™).

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the five months ended 31 May 2024 and
other explanatory information have been prepared in accordance with the same basis of preparation and
presentation adopted in respect of the consolidated financial statements.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in the
consolidated financial statements, unless otherwise stated.

2 Material accounting policies

(a) Going concern

Notwithstanding that the Group recorded net current liabilities of RMB773,472,000 and net liabilities of
RMB771.978,000 as at 31 May 2025, which is primarily due to the shareholders™ agreement entered among the
Company, certain members of the Group and each of the Company s shareholders, under which the Company was
given an obligation to purchase the Company’s equity instruments for cash or another financial assets upon certain
redemption or liquidation events (the “Obligation™). The Obligation is recognised as financial liabilities
with amount of RMB1,782,285,000 as at 31 May 2025. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis based on the following:

+ the Obligation would be terminated upon the listing of the Company s shares on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing™) and the [inancial habilities will be converted into equity:

» the directors of the Company do not expect that payment lor the Obligation would oceur within the next
twelve months from 31 May 2025; and

» taken the above into consideration, the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow
projections, which cover a period of twelve months from the date of this report and are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to meet its liabilities and obligations as and when they
fall due and to sustain its operations for the next twelve months from the date of this report,

Accordingly, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no material uncertainty exists for
the consolidated financial statements to be prepared on a going concern basis.
(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB™), which is the [unctional currency
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the Chinese Mainland.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 1s the historical
cost basis, except for financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss measured at fair value as explained in Note 2(f).
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(c) Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS Accounting Standards
requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect
on the consolidated financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty discussed in Note 3.

(d) Subsidiaries, non-controlling interests and associates
(i) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group
and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consclidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as
unrealised gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests
which would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets
the definition of a financial liability. For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-
controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests” proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statements of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results of
the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
as an allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity holders of the Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and
other contractual obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
statements of financial position in accordance with Note 2(0) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustinents are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.
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When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value
on initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 2(f)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate.

In the Company s statement of financial position, an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment

losses (see Note 2(j)(ii)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

(ii) Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has significant influence, but not control or joint
control, over its management, including participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity
method, unless it is classified as held for sale. Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost,
adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values of the mvestee’s identifiable net
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment into the associate that forms
part of the Group’s equity mvestment. Thereafler, the mvestment 1s adjusted for the post acquisition change in the
Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see Notes 2(d) and
2(j)(ii)). At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that the investment is
impaired. Any acquisition-date excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results of the
investees and any impairment losses for the year and the Group’s share of the post-acquisition post-tax items of
the investees™ other comprehensive income are recognised in the conseolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil
and recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the nvestee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the
carrying amount of the investment under the equity method, together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate, after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see Note 2(j)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. in which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former investee at the date when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair value and
this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see Note 2(f)).



(e) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
n the acquiree and the fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain
purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see Note 2(j)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable amount of purchased goodwill is
included in the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f) Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than investments in subsidiaries and
associates, are set out below:

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/derecognised on the date the Group commits to
purchase/sell the investments. The investments are initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction
costs, except for those investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs
are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 27. These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification:

(i} Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the following measurement
categories:

« amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest income from the investment is calculated using
the effective interest method.

+ fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) — recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved by both the collection of contractual cash
flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest income (calculated using the effective
interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When the investment is derecognised, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

» fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the fair value of the investment
(including interest) are recognised in profit or loss.



(ii) Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the equity investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the Group makes an irrevocable election to
designate the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the defimtion of equity from the issuer’s perspective.
Where such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive income remains in the
fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal. the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(s)(ii).

(g)  Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Note 2(j)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives are as follows:

— Right-of-use assets Over the lease term
— Office equipment 3 - 5years
— Electronic equipment 3 - Syears
— Leasehold improvements 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

(h) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses (see Note 2(j)(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following mtangible asset with finite useful life 1s amortised from the
date it is available for use and its estimated useful life is as follows:

— Software 5to 10 years
— Patent and trademark 10 to 20 years
— Domain name 10 years
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The estimates and associated assumptions of useful life determined by the Group are based on technical and
commercial obsolescence, legal or contractual limits on the use of the asset and other relevant factors.

Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed annually.

The software useful lives are determined to be the shorter of the period of contractual rights or estimated
period during which such software can bring economic benefits to the Group considering the different purposes.
usage of the software and technological obsolescence.

The trademark and domain name useful lives are determined based on the period of validity of patent protected
by the relevant laws after considering the period of the economic benefits to the Group and estimates of useful lives
of similar assets.

(i) Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not to
separate non-lease components and accounts for each lease component and any associated non-lease components
as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot
be readily determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence
are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises the
initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and any
initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located.,
discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(g) and 2(j)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way,



a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets and presents lease liabilities separately in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

(i)  Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loss (ECLs) on financial assets measured at

amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables).

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including debt and securities measured at FVPL and equity
securities designated at FVOCTI (non-recycling), are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of
all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates where the effect of
discounting is material:

» fixed-rate financial assets and trade and other receivables: effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof;

« variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the
Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

« 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date: and

¢ lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,

adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month ECLs unless
there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition, in which case

the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the reporting
date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group considers that a
default event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial asset is 90 days past
due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

* failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates;

« an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

= an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

+ existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is
performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective

basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and
credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss.
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt securities that are measured
at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2(s)(ii) is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based
on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less allowance for impairment losses) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable events:
« significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

* a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;
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it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there
is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-

off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment
in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets;
intangible assets;
goodwill; and

investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible
assets that are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount
is estimated annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurabie) or value in use
(if determinable).



*  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a favorable

change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of
goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss 1s limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the reversals are recognised.

(k) Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see Note 2(s)) before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(j)(i) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become unconditional (see Note 2(1)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (see Note 2(s)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In
such cases. a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see Note 2(1)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest accrued
under the effective interest method (see Note 2(s)).

(1) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see Note 2(k)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method less allowance for credit losses
(see Note 2(j)(i)).

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(j)(i).

(n) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities, trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost.



Refund liabilities arising from rights of returns and volume rebates are recognised in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 2(s)(i).

(0) Financial instruments with preferred rights

The Company, certain members of the Group and each of the Company’s shareholders have entered into a
shareholders™ agreement on 9 May 2022 (the “Shareholders” Agreement”, details are described in the section
headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure™ in the Prospectus), which mirrors the shareholders’
agreement entered into among Liangkebang and Liangkebang’s shareholders. Certain shareholders (the
“Preference Investors™) had the right to require the Group to redeem all of the investments held by the Preference
Investors or to liquidate preferentially at a predetermined amount upon certain redemption or liquidation events,
which are not all within the control of the Group.

The Group’s contractual obligation to deliver cash or other financial assets to the Preference Investors upen
events that are beyond the control of the Group gives rise to a financial liability.

The financial liabilities are measured at the present value of the redemption amount. Any changes in the
carrying amount of the financial liabilities are recorded in profit or loss as “changes in the carrying amounts of
financial instruments with preferred rights™.

(p) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction costs. Subsequently, these
borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with Note 2(v).

(q) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees.

Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

(ii) Share-based payment

A share-based compensation is classified as either an equity-settled share-based compensation or a cash-
settled share-based compensation. The term “equity-settled share-based compensation™ refers to a transaction in
which the Group grants share options or restricted share units (“RSUs™) (collectively the “equity instruments™) as
a consideration in return for services rendered or a transaction in which the Group has no obligation to settle the
share-based compensation, or the awards granted are self-owned equity instruments of its’ shareholder.

The fair value of the equity instruments granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost with a
corresponding increase in a other reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the binomial
option-pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the equity instruments were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to the equity
instruments, the total estimated fair value of the equity instruments is spread over the vesting period. taking into
account the probability that the equity instruments will vest.
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During the vesting period, the number of equity instruments that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the other reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of equity instruments that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the other reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the other reserve until either the option is exercised (when it is included in the
amount recognised in share capital and share premium for the shares issued) or the option expires (when it is
released directly to retained profits).

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed, without
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to cither terminate employment before the normal
retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Group has made an offer of
voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated

reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the end of the Track Record Period, then they are
discounted to their present value.

(r) Income tax

Income tax expense comprises current tax and deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax
also includes any tax arising from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.

Deferred tax is not recognised for:

« temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;

* temporary differences related to investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture to the extent that
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future;

* taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of geodwill; and

¢« those related to the income taxes arising from tax laws enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.
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The Group recognised deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its lease liabilities
and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be
used. Future taxable profits are determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences. If the
amount of taxable temporary differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable
profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary differences, are considered, based on the business plans for
individual subsidiaries in the Group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when
the probability of future taxable profits improves.

The measurement of deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.

(s) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services
or the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has
the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which the Group is expected be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes
and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

* the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

* the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created
or enhanced; or

+ the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of the distinct goods
or services.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing benefit to the
customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest
income is accrued separately under the cffective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing
component which provides a significant financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any
effects of a significant financing component if the period of financing is 12 months or less.
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(i)

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Revenue from operation of online marketplaces

The Group’s revenue generated from operation of online marketplaces 1s derived from facilitating
transactions of goods on its E-commerce platform, Yangxiaomie and matching automobile retailers and
merchants of local lifestyle goods and services with end customers that meet their target customer criteria
to promote conversion of online traffic to offline store visits on its online marketplace, Consumption
Guide. Accordingly, the details for the services are as below:

- Revenue from Yangxiaomie

During the Track Record Period, the Group’s revenue generated from Yangxiaomie is derived from
selling products through its Ecommerce platforms. The Group recognises revenue from the sale of goods
at a point in time when the status of relevant purchase orders is presented as completed or when there is
no unfulfilled obligation that affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. The transaction price
received by the Group is recognised as a contract liability until all revenue recognition criteria are met.

Under 1FRS 15 Revenue firom Contracts with Customers, for revenue from the sale of goods and the
related costs, the Group needs to evaluate whether it is appropriate to recognise these amounts in the
gross amount or as a commission or fee equal to the net amount of consideration retained by the Group.
If the Group is a principal that controls the goods or service before it is transferred to a customer, it should
recognise revenue equal to the gross amount of consideration to which it expects to be entitled in
exchange for the specified goods or service transferred. If the Group is an agent that is primarily
responsible for assisting another party with providing the specified goods or service, the Group should
recognise revenue in an amount equal to the fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled. The fee
or commission is the net amount of consideration that the Group retains after paying the other party the
consideration, or the previously established amount or proportion of the amount. The following
conditions indicate that an entity controls the goods before it is transferred to a customer: the entity is
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the goods to the customer; the entity has
inventory risk; and the entity has discretion in establishing the price for the specified goods.

The Group provides a wide range of products through its E-commerce platform and its process of
E-commerce transactions and services are described as below: i) the Group enters into supplying
framework agreements with those who are product and service providers; ii) the Group has discretion in
establishing the price for the products based on the pricing range agreed in relevant supplying framework
agreements; iii) these product and service providers directly deliver the goods to the end customers based
on the purchase order information generated from the E-commerce platform and the Group does not take
any inventory risk legally; and iv) as for post-sale services, these product and service providers are fully
responsible for dealing with the customers who submit the post-sale service request through the E-
commerce platform. The Group reports the amount received from the end customers and the amounts
paid to these product and service providers related to these transactions on a net basis as the Group is
not primarily obligated in a transaction, does not bear the inventory risk and does not control the goods
before it is transferred to the end customers, acting as an agent.

In the second quarter of 2024, the Group started to charge fees from platform open partnership (the
“POP”) store cperators for goods transactions completed on Yangxiacmie. Online platform service fees
charged to the POP store operators, primarily determined as a percentage based on the value of
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(b)

merchandise sold by the POP store operators, are recognised as commission revenue upon the completion
of the underlying goods provided by the POP store operators to the end customers.

- Revenue from Consumption Guide

In the second quarter of 2022, the Group started operating Consumption Guide, which is an app that
aggregates all proprietary local consumption apps, allowing end customers to access their desired apps
based on their physical location. These proprietary local consumption apps facilitate transactions for
goods and services for automobile retailers and merchants of local lifestyle, including distributing
consumption or discount coupons that can be used on these apps and through offline channels.

Commission fees charged to automobile retailers and merchants of local lifestyle goods and services,
primarily determined as a percentage of respectively relevant transaction value of the goods and/or
services, are recognised as commission revenue upon the completion of the underlying goods or services
provided to the end customers.

The Group typically offers automobile retailers and merchants of local lifestyle goods and services fund
rebates when their sales to end customers reach an agreed threshold. The incentives provided to them are
recorded as a reduction of revenue if there is no exchange of distinct goods or services to the Group or
the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be reasonably estimated. A refund liability is
recognised for the expected rebates and is included in accruals expenses and other current liabilities.

Revenue from other businesses
- Advertisement placement

The Group also provides advertisement placement services for its customers (a) online through
Consumption Guide and (b) offline.

Since the second quarter of 2022, the Group provided advertisement placement service primarily to
automobile retailers and merchants of local lifestyle goods and services in the Group’s online
marketplaces, Consumption Guide. Revenue from advertisement placement services is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the contractual service period. Revenue is recorded on a gross basis as the Group
is the principal to the automobile retailers and merchants of local lifestyle goods and services in the
respective arrangements, In general, the automobile retailers and merchants of local lifestyle goods and
services are required to make advance payments for all the advertisement placement services which is
primarily recorded i “Contract labilities™.

- Revenue from financial institutions

During the Track Record Period, the Group entered service contracts with financial institutions to provide
matching services for them. The Group identified and referred potential end borrowers with needs for
purchasing credits and/or consumer loans to match them with financial institutions based on relevant
service contracts.

Revenue arising from provision of matching services for financial institutions is satisfied over time in
accordance with paragraph 35(a) of IFRS 15 because the customers simultaneously received and
consumed the benefits of the Group’s performance in identifying and referring each potential end
borrower as and when each potential end borrower is referred. Also, the fact that another entity would
not need to re-perform the relevant services completed by the Group for the service that the Group has
provided to date also demcnstrates that the customers simultanecusly received and consumed the



benefits of the Group’s performance as the Group performed. To measure the Group’s performance over
time, the output method is utilised to measure the value to the customers based on the transfer to date of
the services promised, with no rights of return once consumed. This measurement method is applied on
a monthly basis resulting in revenue being recognised when the service is provided and billed. In these
cases, revenue on transactional contracts with a defined price but an undefined quantity is recognised
utilising the right to invoice expedient resulting in revenue being recognised when the service is provided
and billed. Additionally, contracts with a defined price but an undefined quantity that utilise tier pricing
would be defined as a series of distinct performance obligations satisfied over time utilising the same
method of measurement, the output method, with no rights of return once consumed.

(ii) Other income

(a)

(b)

(c)

Interest income

Interest income is calculated and recognised using the effective interest rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial asset to the carrying amount of the
asset. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the carrying amount of the
asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the carrying amount of
the asset less any impairment loss.

Dividends

Dividends income [rom unlisted equity investments 1s recognised when the mvestor’s right to receive
payment is established.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statements of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred. Grants that compensate the
Group for the cost of an asset are deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and consequently are
effectively recognised in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset by way of reduced depreciation
expense.

(t)  Research and development expenses

Research and development expenses comprise all costs that are directly attributable to research and
development activities or that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to such activities. Because of the nature of the
Group’s research and development activities, the criteria for the recognition of such costs as an asset are generally
not met until late in the development stage of the project when the remaining development costs are immaterial.
Hence both research costs and development costs are generally recognised as expenses in the period in which they
are incurred.

(u) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of group companies
at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.



Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency
at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally recognised in profit or loss and
presented within finance costs.

(v) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset which
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the
cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(w) Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group: or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a member);

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a),

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity): or

(viii)The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

(x) Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements are identified from the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocaling resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various
lines of business and geographical locations.



Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

The Group’s chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Chief Executive Officer, who reviews
consolidated results when making decisions about allocating resources and assessing performance of the Group.

For the purpose of internal reporting and management’s operation review, the Group’s Chiel Executive Officer
and management personnel do not segregate the Group’s business by service lines. All service categories are
viewed as one and the only operating segment.

3  Accounting judgment and estimates

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following accounting
judgments:

(a) Fair value of share-based compensation payments

As mentioned in Note 25, the Group has granted shares options to its employees. The Group has used binomial
option-pricing model to determine the total fair value of the options granted to employees, which is to be expensed
over the vesting period. Significant estimate on assumptions, such as the underlying equity value, risk-free interest
rate, expected volatility and dividend yield, is required to be made by the Group in applying the binomial option-
pricing model.

(b) Impairment of trade receivables

The credit losses for trade receivables are based on assumptions about the expected loss rates. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the
Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Changes in these assumptions and estimates could materially affect the result of the assessment and the
Group may make additional loss allowances in future periods.

4 Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are providing operation of online marketplaces and other businesses
including advertisement placement and provision of matching services for financial institutions in the PRC.
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Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major products or service lines is as follows:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Revenue from contracts with customers within the
scope of IFRS 15
Operation of online marketplaces
— Revenue from Yangxiaomie ............... 206,222 200,451 925,124 253,500 406,100
— Revenue from Consumption guide .......... 205,835 211,081 32,813 13,885 7.917
Other businesses
— Advertisement placement ................. 7,166 10,952 3.048 2.240 123
— Revenue from financial institutions ......... 56,062 107,185 32,044 30,226 —

475,285 529.669 993,029 299,851 414,140

Disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers by the timing ol revenue recognition is
set out below:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
(unaudited)
OVEr-tIME. ..o 62,915 118,137 35,092 32,466 123

PO T BT oo 000 A 0 412,370 411,532 957,937 267,385 414,017

475,285 529,669 993,029 299,851 414,140

During the Track Record Period, there is no individual customer contributing over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group.

Remaining performance obligation

The Group has elected the practical expedient not to disclose the information about remaining performance
obligations which are part of contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less and do not disclose
the value of remaining performance obligations for contracts in which the Group recognises revenue at the amount
to which the Group has the right to invoice.

Segment information

IFRS 8. Operating Segments, requires identification and disclosure of operating segment information based
on internal financial reports that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of resources allocation and performance assessment. On this basis, as for the purpose of making decisions
about resources allocation and performance assessment, the Group’s management reviews on the operating results

of the Group as a whole, the Group has determined that it only has one operating segment during the Track Record
Period.



Geographic information

All of the Group’s operating assets are located in the PRC and all of the Groups revenue and operating profits
are derived from the PRC during the Track Record Period. Accordingly, no segment analysis based on geographical
locations is provided.

5  Other income or loss, net

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB*000
(unaudited)
Dividend income from financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive
THEBIE(Y o oo s won s wwn wen v aes Bos 2,657 — — — -
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries (Note 29) .. ... 438 — — - —
Extra deduction of input value-added tax
VAT QD) com wwn vnn s snes s soea soan s 298 69 — — —
Trade receivables extension fee (iii)........... —— — 7.102 — —
Gain on derecognition of long-term payables ... - 176 29 — 24
Exchangeeati/{1o88) . vun was womsein win « wa s — 6 (51) 3 (247)
Gain on compensations (Note 15) ............ — 1.450 — — —
Gain on debt restructuring (iv) ............... — 2,617 — — =
IDAHBHGT no wismx 2 o v on o swow 83 5 s SR% 54 8 o — — - — (813)
Gain on legal settlement (v) ................. - — —- — 1,251
CHNETS <6 55 5 o5 550 Shd o0 S0 V55 o6 3 0 S0 Red 3 (78) 199 205 149 49
3313 4,517 7,285 E _ 264
Nores: o

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2022, dividends with amount of RMB2,657.000 were received on the Group’s unlisted investments
in a private company. Shandong Tancheng Rural Commercial Bank Corporation Limited ( 1[5 804 28 T3 18 44 51) established
in the PRC, which was derecognised in 2022,

(11} Inaccordance with the Announcement of the Ministry of Finance and the State Taxation Administration Regarding the VAT Policies for
Promoting the Bailout and Development of Distressed Industries in the Service Sector ([2022] No. 11). the Group's subsidiarie s, as modern
service companies, qualify for additional 10% deduction of input VAT from output VAT during the year ended 31 December 2022.
Pursuant to the new Announcement on Clarifying Policies for Value Added Tax Reduction and Exemption for Small scale Taxpayers
([2023] No. 1). the Group's subsidiaries. as modern service companies. qualify for additional 5% deduction of input VAT from output
VAT during the year ended 31 December 2023.

(1i1) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group levy a trade receivables extension fee as compensations for any client’s expiry of
grace period for their outstanding trade receivables. The Group ceased collection of extension fee since | January 2025.

(iv) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group was involved in a legal lawsuit with a cloud service supplier (the “Supplier™) of the
Group for its delay in the settlement. On 25 May 2023, the court issued civil mediation agreement, under which the Supplier waivered a
portion of the Group’s trade payables and the Group shall complete the settlement before May 2024, As a result, the Group recognised a
one-off gain on debt restructuring of approximately of RMB2.,617,000 based on the above-mentioned court decision and repaid all the
agreed amount as scheduled in the civil mediation agreement in 2023,

(v) During the five months ended 31 May 2025, the Group recognised a gain from legal settlement of RMB1.251,000 pursuant to the court’s
judgment in a lawsuit against one customer of the Group, The entire amount was fuily received.



6 (Loss)/profit before taxation

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

(a) Net finance costs

Years ended 31 December

Five months ended 31 May

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000  RMB000 RMB'000
(unaudited)

Interest income from bank deposits ............. (117) (60) (14) (13) (49)
Interest expense on bank and other borrowings . ... — 234 687 353 359
Guarantee fee from bank and other borrowings .. .. 69 — =
Interest expense on lease liabilities . ... .......... 163 571 900 392 315
46 % 1,573 732 _6_25_

(b) Staff costs

Years ended 31 December

Five months ended 31 May

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB*000 RMB*000
(unaudited)
Salaries, wages and other benefits ................. 106,444 75,371 60.842 21,020 36.037
Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plan®) . s 27,288 19.808 10,831 5,789 8.239
TERTHEHON BENEATS oou o vuw s o v 96 8650 o8 e gk 3 3,155  10.375 6.734 5.688 3,195
Share-based compensation .............c.ovuvienns 15.823  (7.282) 36,948 17,343 11,124
152,710 98,272 115,355 49,840 58,595
Note:
(i) Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are required to participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme administered

and operated by the local municipal government. The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC contribute funds which are caleulated on certain

percentages of the average employee salary as agreed by the local municipal government to the scheme to fund the retirement benefits of

the employees.

(c) Other items

Years ended 31 December

Five months ended 31 May

‘]"\l_o_l.‘s 2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

Distribution and marketing expenditures ... .. 39,753 103,543 465,660 109,315 80,932
Depreciation of property. plant and

BRCMPITIEHE « v som s s s s s w99 o 1,298 618 522 254 102
Depreciation of right-of-use assets .......... 10.646 6,925 4.566 1.885 1,872
Amortisation of intangible assets ........... 155 230 305 118 132
Impairment loss/(gain) on financial assets:
— Trade receivables ..................... 16 9,836 2,635 (5,280) 3,731 1.722
— Otherreceivables . .................... 17 (400) — - —- —
Listing eXpenses .. ....o.vviiiinniirnn... 26,669 9,640 23467 8.687 5,404
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7  Income tax in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

(a) Income tax in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB*000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Current tax
Enterprise Income Tax
Provision for the year/period .................... 5 9 48,296 13,289 36.176
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences ... (1,003) (900) (602) (1,032) (733)
(998) (891)  47.694 12,257 35.443

(b) Reconciliation between income tax (credit)/expense and accounting (loss)/profit at applicable tax rates:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB'000 RNMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000

(unaudited)

(Loss)/profit before taxation .................... (1,281) 2,752 194,822 46,948 161,074

Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation,
calculated at the rates applicable in the jurisdictions

concerned . ... 28,840 38462 92,502 29.311 58312
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ............ 4,491 (1.717) 7,242 4,362 2,852
Effect of tax-exempted income .................. (664) — - — —
Super-deduction of research and development

EXPEISEW o v 5 v i v i 9 G v ven ReE B E e g (11,728) (11,730)  (8.475) (3,336) (4.896)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised ...... 597 6.480 71 46 89
Tax effect of utilising unrecognised unused tax losses

carried forward . ... ... (22,455) (32,346) (11,905) (11,492) (263)
Tax concessions MO8 . o vis vas vas ved dow ey dei ¢ (79) (40) (31,741 (6,634) (20,651)
Actual tax (credit)/expense ..................... (998) (891) 47.694 12,257 35,443

Notes:

(1) According to the State Taxation Admmistration of the PRC announced in September 2018 and in March 2021, the enterprises engaging
in research and development activities would entitle to claim 175% of their research and development expenses as Super Deduction from
1 January 2018 to 30 September 2022, According to the State Taxation Administration of the PRC announced in September 2022 and in
March 2023, the enterprises engaging in research and development activities would entitle to claim 200% of their research and
development expenses as Super Deduction since | October 2022, The Group has made its best estimate for the Super Deduction to be

claimed for the Group’s entities in ascertaining their assessable profits during the year.

(i) Pursuant to tax relief policies issued by Ministry of Finance and State Taxation Administration of the PRC companies. which meet: 1)
annual taxable profits less than RMB3 million: 2) employees less than 300; and 3) total assets less than RMBS50 million. are subject to
preferential effective tax rates of 2.5%/10%, 2.5%/5%, 5%/5% and 5%/5% for their taxable profits (under RMB1 million/between RMBI
million and RMB3 million) for the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and the five months ended 31 May 2025, respectively.
The tax relief policies will remain effective before 31 December 2027. The Group” certain subsidiaries enjoyed above mentioned tax relief
policies during the Track Record Period,

(111) According to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, entities that qualify as “high-and-new technology enterprises™ ("HNTL") are entitled
to a preferential mcome tax rate of 15%. During the Track Record Period, one subsidiary, Liangzi Data is qualified as HNTE, the
qualification of Liangzi Data was valid for three years from November 2022 to November 2025.
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Cayman Islands

Under the current laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on either income or capital
gain, the Cayman Islands does not impose a withholding tax on payments of dividends to shareholders.

Hong Kong SAR

The Company’s Hong Kong SAR subsidiary is subject to a profits tax rate of 8.25% for the first HKD2,000,000 of
assessable profit and 16.5% for profit exceeding HKD2,000,000. No provision for Hong Kong SAR profits tax was
made as the Group had no estimated assessable profit that was subject to Hong Kong SAR profits tax.

PRC

The Company s subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to an income tax rate of 25%, according to the
Income Tax Law of the PRC during the Track Record Period.

8 Directors’ emoluments

Directors” emoluments during the Track Record Period are as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2022

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and other  Discretionary scheme Share-hased
fee benefits bonuses contributions  Sub-total  payments(® Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Executive directors
ZhouHao .............. — 3,757 - 58 3,815 — 3,815
Hui Ling® .. ........... — 3,550 — 58 3,608 1,280 4,888
LiYanto . .. ... ..., e 3,718 — 58 3,776 2,308 6.084
Wang Fengt™ .. .. ... .. — 2,434 — 58 2,492 3.891 6,383
Zhou Qiang ™ ... ........ — 1,109 . 58 1,167 229 1.396
Song Yang®™) .. ......... — 1,278 — 58 1,336 1,158 2,494
Non-executive directors
Zhang Y0 el vws uas - — — — — - -
Liu Fangweiti) ... .. ... — — E — — —
— 15846 — 348 16,194 8866 25060
Year ended 31 December 2023
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and other  Discretionary scheme Share-based
fee benefits bonuses contributions  Sub-total  payments® Total
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Executive directors
ZhouHao .............. 3,738 295 63 4,096 — 4,096
Hu LIngl . v s s oo = 667 = 40 707 (3.5506) (2,849)
L Yariti) o san o s s o= 2,718 80 63 2.861 1,502 4,363
Wang Fetig®™) .. s vos v - 742 — 40 782 (2.495) (1,713)
Zhou Qiang™ .. ......... — 2,466 186 63 2.715 1.509 4,224
Song Yang®™ ... ....... — 1.293 300 63 1,656 582 2,238
Non-executive directors
Zhang Yit o oL, — s — — — i —e
Liu Fangwei®m ... ... = = = = - — ==
— 11,624 861 332 12,817 (2,458) 10,359




Executive directors
Zhou Hao
Hui Ling (i
LiYanti) ... ........
Wang Feng@®™) .. .........
Zhou Qiang )
Song Yang®™) .. .........
Non-executive directors
Zhang Yi M0 oo s vee s
Liu Fangwei (vi)

Executive directors
Zhou Hao
T Yan 0 s s i s s v wa o
ZhouQiang ™. . viwin
Song Yang

Non-executive directors

Zhang Yi Wi oo oo vun s
Liu Fangwei (v

Executive directors

Zhou HaG: i vis viw ss onn
Hui Ling ™
L1 ¥an i) . won wese s soans
Wang Feng ... cow wow s
Zhou Qiang ™ ... ........
Song Yang ) .. ... .....
Non-executive directors
Zhang Yitw ..o . ..., ..
Liu Fangwei (vi)

Notes:

Year ended 31 December 2024

Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and other  Discretionary scheme Share-based
fee benefits bonuses contributions  Sub-total ~ payments® Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
- 5,221 1,438 66 6,725 30,794 37,519
— 12 - 2 14 - 14
t 2,580 160 66 2.8006 2,297 5,103
s 12 —_ 2 14 14
— 1,283 63 66 1,412 2,505 3,917
— 1,316 200 66 1,582 103 1,685
— 10,424 1,861 268 12,553 35,699 48.252
Five months ended 31 May 2025
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’  and other  Discretionary scheme Share-based
fee benefits bonuses contributions  Sub-total  paymentst) Total
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
- 3,733 — 28 3,761 6,738 10,499
— 528 — 28 556 77 633
e 355 — 28 383 1,890 2,273
=== 942 = 28 970 292 1,262
s 5,558 — 112 5670 8997 14,667
Five months ended 31 May 2024 (unaudited)
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
Directors’ and other  Discretionary scheme Share-based
fee benefits bonuses contributions  Sub-total  payments(’ Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
— 1,602 — 27 1,629 7,752 9,381
— 12 = 2 14 = 14
— 1,074 — 27 1,101 112 1,213
— 12 — 2 14 - 14
— 786 — 27 813 1,435 2,248
— 540 — 27 567 43 610
— 4,026 — 112 4,138 9,342 13,480

(i) These represent the estimated value of share options or RSUs granted to the directors urider the Group’s share incentive plans. The

value of these share options or RSUs is measured according to the Group’s accounting policies for share-based payment transactions as
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set out in Note 2(q)(ii) and, in accordance with that policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous vears where
grants of equity instruments are forfeited prior to vesting. The details of these benefits in kind. including the principal terms and number
of share options or RSUs granted, are disclosed in Note 25,

(i)  Ms. Hui Ling joined the Group on 14 January 2015 and was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 31 March 2022, and
resigned from the executive director with effective from 31 January 2024

(iii)  Mr. Li Yan joined the Group on 1 May 2020 and was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 9 May 2022.

(iv) Mr. Wang Feng joined the Group on 4 June 2021 and was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 9 May 2022, and
resigned from the executive director with effective from 31 January 2024,

(v)  Mr. Zhou Qiang joined the Group on 1 September 2022 and was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 31 January 2024,
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, a part of Mr. Zhou Qiang’s remuneration was paid by the Group in the form of
consultant fees to an entity controlled by him for providing technical consulting service for the Group. His emoluments disclosed above
included the compensations for his services as key management personnel of the Group prior to his appointment as a director of the
Company.

(vi) Mr. Song Yang joined the Group on 8 June 2020 and was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 31 January 2024. His
emoluments disclosed above included the compensations for his services as key management personnel of the Group prior to his
appointment as a director of the Company.

(vii) On 9 May 2022, Mr. Zhang Yi and Ms. Liu Fangwei were appointed as non-executive directors of the Company. No remuneration is
paid to them during the Track Record Period.

(viii) On 11 November 2025, Mr. Sun Junchen, Mr. Cao Jie and Ms. Guo Yongfang were appointed as independent non-executive directors
of the Company

During the Track Record Period, no director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments and no amounts
were paid or payable by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of any office in connection with the management of the affairs of any member of the Group.

9  Individuals with highest emoluments

The number of directors and non-directors included in the five highest paid individuals during the Track
Record Period are set forth below:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
(unaudited)
Directors . .........iiiiii 4 4 4 3 3
NOA-QICIOTE sou s asn won s vas s W va §3% 0 1 B 1 2 2
— == == == .

The emoluments of the directors are disclosed in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
remaining highest paid individuals are as follows:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
Salaries, allowances and benefitsinkind ............ 1,683 701 1,135 910 1.526
Distretionary DOMUSEs: o v i v v i v s wa o van — 45 240 = —
Share-based payment ......... ... .o o i 3,238 1,300 705 399 150
Total ... 4,921 2,046 2.080 1,309 1,676
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The emoluments of the above individuals with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025

Number of Numberof Numberof Number of Numberof
individuals  individuals  individuals  individuals individuals
(unaudited)

Nil=HESLD00000 . o snn wmn v s s wins — = — 2 2
HKS$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 ............... — 1 1 — ==
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 ............... 1 — — — —

During the Track Record Period, no amounts were paid or payable by the Group to the above non-director
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of any
office in connection with the management of the affairs of any member of the Group.

10 Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share during the Track Record Period is based on the (loss)/
profit for the year/period attributable to equity shareholders of the Company divided by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to be in issue after taking into account the retrospective adjustments on the
assumption that the Reorganisation had been in effective on 1 January 2022, calculated as follows:

(a) (Loss)/profit of the year/period attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(unaudited)

(Loss)/profit for the year/period attributable to all

equity shareholders of the Company ............. (281) 3.643 147,128 34.691 125,631
Allocation of loss/(earnings) for the year/period

attributable to financial instruments with preferred

rghts o 86 (1,916) (77,362) (18241)  (66,059)
(Loss)/profit for the year/period attributable to ordinary
equity shareholders of the Company ............. 195) 1,727 69,766 16,450 59,572

(b) Weighted average number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares deemed to be in issue:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
(unaudited)
Weighted average number of ordinary
shares deemed to be inissue ... ... 346,636,708 237,091,500 237.091,500 237,091,500 237,091,500

For the years ended 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and five months ended 31 May 2024 and 2025, the
potential ordinary shares were not included in the calculation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share as their inclusion
would have been anti-dilutive. Accordingly, the amounts of diluted (loss)/earnings per share were the same as basic
(loss)/earnings per share of 2022, 2023, 2024 and five months ended 31 May 2024 and 2025.
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11 Property, plant and equipment

Cost:

AEL Fanuwary 2022 s vnw snven v s ses v v s amas e
Additions ... .o
DISDERANS) s 5 vos v wns e S G B e e e R B 6 g

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 ............
QOIS conne woirs wom voon soomw svam o s soate wanss seave wm % wia
Disposals . ... i

At 31 December 2023 and | January 2024 ............
AAATHONY e vas v o won vas oo Sy a0 Vol 58 56 § 5s
DASPEEAIE: ccos sas v was s wine oo sk ss s s s s

At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025 ............
AAQIONE a0 o wans s sase s wacs s 2 as s 4T st 2%
AL 31 May 2025, o i s i was wam o wrs & s wivs s s

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 January 2022 . ...
Chairie for the VEAT « 5o s oo v vm v v w05 s v 5 56 vk s
Written back on disposals. - « vew s s voi v o a5 wars wa

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 ............
Charge fortheyear ........ ... ... .. ...
Written back ondisposals ....... ... ... ...

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 ............
Charge for the FEar s e sas sws sme s s s wam v o o
Written back ondisposals ........... ... ...

At 31 December 2024 and | January 2025 ............
Charge forthe period .. .......... i,
At3T May 2025 ... e e

Net book value:
At31 December 2022 ...t e

At 31 December 2008 & v v iws own e wion sase s & i % 3
At 31 December 2024 ... ... ..

At31May2025 .. o

Office Electronic Leasehold
equipment equipment improvements Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
730 8.860 — 9.590
3 352 — 355
(285) (213) - (498)
448 8.999 — 9,447
| 45 184 230
(66) (8) — (74)
383 9,036 184 9.603
17 29 — 46
= ) — )
400 9,056 184 9,640
13 -— — 13
413 9,056 184 9,653
(364) (6.539) — (6.903)
(98) (1,200) — (1,298)
218 202 — 420
(244) (7:537) — (7.781)
(80) (529) (9 (618)
61 1 — 62
(263) (8.065) 9) (8.337)
(80) (405) (37) (522)
4 — 4
(343) (8,466) (46) (8.855)
(22) (65) (15) (102)
(365) (8.531) (61) (8,957)
204 1,462 —: 1,666
120 971 175 1,266
57 590 138 785
48 525 123 696




12 Intangible assets

Patent and

Software trademark Domain name Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cost:
At ) JanUatv 2022 ¢ i v i v ves ved w0 H6 560 paw e B 8 4 564 — — 564
ABATHONE  won won soen v Soan & wn v o s ©es 0% Ve s = 5 709 421 284 1.414
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 . ............ 1,273 421 284 1,978
Additions ... e 213 458 — 671
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 ............. 1,486 879 284 2,649
ADAIIGNE & oo v v vy vos By Tur 59F 605 05 559 5 28 550 ¥ 9 119 368 — 487
At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025 ............. 1.605 1,247 284 3,136
AUATHONE & vap v oon snm v WoR W% 5008 S 8 Hh FaEE 3 9 - — 9
ATT VY 200F 5o ves s wo oo 5606 Wow Son il 5 5 095 3 1,614 1,247 284 3.145
Accumulated amortisation:
Al 1 January 2002 . cow s i v s o s s e e s (129) —_ — (129)
Charge fortheyear .......... .. ... ... . i, (112) (25) (18) (155)
At 31 December 2022 and | January 2023 ............. (241) (25) (18) (284)
Charge ot The Yol sus s v e 2 50 900 5% 99 bl 29 95% & (144) (57) (29) (230)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 . ... ......... (385) (82) (47) (514)
Charge forthe YEar oo o a v onm ams wn o s s s wis s (166) (110) (29) (305)
At 31 December 2024 and 1 January 2025 ............. (551) (192) (76) (819)
Charge forthe period .. con vve con sam i amw oe v o s s (68) (53) (11) (132)
At 31 May 2025 .ws cas so v osi e woam ko semss & b (619) (245) (87) (951)
Net book value:
At 31 December 2022 ... 1,032 396 266 1,694
At 3] December 20230 cou cus swn sis vt s we e s 1,101 797 237 2,135
At 31 December2024 .. ..o cviiiiiii e v 1,054 1,055 208 2,317
At 3] May 2025 o wmm wan o o an ai s e s s s 995 1.002 197 2,194

The amortisation charge for the year is included in “general and administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

In 2022, the Group acquired domain name from third parties and applied a series of trademarks, and these
intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation.
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13 Right-of-use assets

Years ended 31 December

Five months ended 31 May

2022 2023 2024 2024 2028
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB*000 RMB000
(unaudited)

Cost:
AtlJanuary, . ... 28.578 6,548 23.584 23,584 23,217
Additions ... 6,548 23,584 — — —
DISHOSRIS S 5 vuvmn s v o6 5 % ey go8 Te Ve e (28,578) (6,548) (367) (367) —
At 31 December/BIMEAY & cow i vbs ups i s v i 6,548 23,584 23217 23,217 23,217
Accumulated depreciation:
AtlJanuary, ....oovin i (19,044) (1,112) (1.906) (1,906) (6,444)
Charge for the year/period ................... (10.,646) (6,925) (4,566) (1,885) (1,872)
DSpOsalSicn sow i wop sos sow 8o 065 08 FO8 WBN Qo 28.578 6.131 28 28 —
At 31 December/31 May .................... (1,112) (1.906) (6,444) (3,763) (8.316)
Net book value:
At 31 December/31 May .................... 5,436 21,678 16,773 19,454 14,901

The right-of-use assets represented the leased office premises.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss is as follows:

Years ended 31 December

Five months ended 31 May

2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000 RMB000
(unaudited)
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ......... 10,646 6,925 4,566 1,885 1,872
Short-terity TBABEE suw wa s s sy ven vk 080 3ol 5 818 1,028 674 262 409
Interest on lease liabilities ... ................... 163 571 900 392 315
11,627 8.524 6,140 2,539 2,596

The addition of right-of-use assets during the Track Record Period represent the capitalised lease payments

payable under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes 18(c)

and 23, respectively.
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14 Income tax in the consolidated statement of financial position
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statements of financial position

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(unaudited)

AT | JARGHTY 5 o0 0 ou v ¢ v v wai vay a8 s v 3 - 5 8 8 33,663
Provision for PRC income tax for the year/period

(Note 7(8)) « oo vt 5 9 48,296 13,289 36,176
PRC income tax paid during the year/period ....... — 6) (14,641) (8) (38,357)
At 3] December/3l May ....................... S 8 33,663 13,289 31,482

(b) Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised
Movement of each component of deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

The component of deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated statements of financial position and the
movements during the year/period are as follows:

Credit loss
Right-of-use asset  Lease liabilities  allowance Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB000

Deferred tax arising from:
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 ............ (1,407) 1.407 — =
Credited/(charged), to profit or loss (Note 7(a)) ........ 467 (467) 1,003 1,003
At 31 December 2022 and | January 2023 ............ (940) 940 1,003 1,003
(Charged)/credited, to profit or loss (Note 7(a)) ........ (4,479) 4,712 667 900
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 ............ (5.419) 5,652 1,670 1,903
Credited/(charged), to profit or loss (Note 7(a)) ........ 1.141 (1,321) 782 602
At 31 December 2024 and | January 2025 ............ (4,278) 4,331 2,452 2,505
Credited/(charged), to profit or loss (Note 7(a)) ........ 468 (166) 431 733
At31 May 2025 .o (3.810) 4,165 2,883 3,238

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB150,282,000,
RMB46,815.000, RMB474,000 and RMB825,000 as at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025,
respectively, as it is not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be
available in the relevant tax jurisdiction before they expire.
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15

Other non-current assets

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000  RMB'000
Receivables from disposal of a subsidiary @ .. ................ 4,761 4,761 - —
Prepayments for acquisition of properties ™ .................. 29,000

33,761 4.761

(N
(N

Analysed for financial reporting purpose:
Current-other current assets ........ ... . i, 4,761 —— —

Non-current-other non-current assets . .. .........covvvenenn.. 33.761

(N
N

33.761 4,761

Notes:

(1)

(i)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2023. receivables from disposal of a subsidiary represent the Group’s receivables from third parties generated
from disposals of the Group’s shares in a subsidiary, Fujian Xiapu Zhongying Financing Guarantee Co.. Lid. (i@t 45l s iR e
[ 24 =L Zhongying™). On 4 December 2020, the Group has enlered into a contract with a third party. Hengtai Yinkong Asset Management

SR S EIE PR 25 8)), and Mr, Luo Xiaoxian, to transfer its 100% equity interests in Zhongying, ata consideration

Company (L5
of RMB19,749.000. Based on the terms of the relevant contract, these receivables will be paid within 4 years from the disposal date, 4
December 2020. During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, the amounts of RMB4.987.000 and RMB10,000.000 were settled
by the third parties, respectively. In January 2024, the remaining amount of RMB4.761.000 was settled.

As at 31 December 2022, prepayments for acquisition of properties represent prepayments to the Group’s related party. Hainan Zimu
Network Technology Co., Lid. (B B 40705 H IR 20 5], “Hainan Zimu™). to acquire a property in Hainan and intend to use this property
as additional premises for the office in Hainan at a consideration of RMB29.000,000. The Group recovered the above- mentioned
prepayments with amount of RMB29,000,000 from Hainan Zimu during the year ended 31 December 2023 together with
compensations with amount of RMB1.450.000 as Hainan Zimu failed to satisfy the conditions to transfer the property based on the relevant
agreement (see Note 5).

16 Trade receivables

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB000
Trade receivables ... ... .t e 271,232 458,894 648,776 755,905
L5 1085 AllBWANEE: & wios wane 5 o 55 5 s 9o i aus W s e wass (13,005) (15.640) (10,360) (12,082)
Tradereceivables, met . ..........c0iiiiiin i iniiininninn 258,227 443,254 638.416 743,823
Aging analysis

As of the end of each of the Track Record Period, the aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the date

of revenue recognition and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB*000
Within 3months . ... 159,785 290,635 233,194  507.720
A MORthS10 6 ITONLHS: & s« o wam s ss s sres e sos v v & 6 95,313 149487 404,307 235,730
Gmonthsto 1 year ... ..ot 2,348 3 — 373
OVEE | WERAT < o swm 2 s w s v s Sere SR w6 WA SRR SRR SRR SEA B TR 0 781 3.129 915 —

258.227 443254 638,416  743.823
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The credit terms agreed with customers are normally 1 to 180 days from the date of invoicing. No interests
are charged on the trade receivables. Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 27(a).

17 Prepaid expenses and other receivables

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000
Britand EXDENSES 4 ¢ ses vy ieis v w 0 9 60 9 0 E W VAN F 0V 0 8 o ¥ o 2,661 7.057 8.972 7.101
Advarcete SUpPLErs 0 . .o cun ovw s o oe ve v o san v o vis ¥ s @ e 10,923 16,055 6,316 30,407
Prepayments for costs incurred in connection with the issuance of

theConTpany SEHAtesn cow v wei gon won cop web non sen Gon o 807 1,041 1.541 1,733

Amounts due from certain shareholders of the Company ......... 213 — — —
Amounts due from third parties .......... .. ... . . 2,297 831 323 345
DIEHOSIEE s v wo vy oo vy Wl 9O o Bo0 Wan e B S Be 3.333 3,031 5,713 3,328
Amounts due fromarelatedparty ........cociviiiiiiiiin.n - — 3.634 —
Deductible input VAT ...t 73 269 264 —
LBEET 1088 allOWaNGE: wo ven wan van son So v sew Sen S e e 0 (203) (203) (203) (203)

20,104 28,081 26,560 42,711
Notes:

(i)  Asat 3] December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025, the balance of advance to suppliers mainly represents the payments made by the
Group to merchandise suppliers for goods that have not been delivered to the end customers at the end of each reporting period and these
goods are normally delivered to the end customers within around one week afier the end of each reporting period.

(i1) The balances will be deducted from equity upon the completion of the Listing.

18 Cash at bank and on hand and other cash flow information

(a) Cash at bank and on hand comprise:

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
Cash of BAR oo v sren 5 o sren aen oaen smes o s ses s S DA 38 8 8 8
Cashatbanks ... ... .. . 69.430 105,351 304,999 409,373
Gash SuivalentEi y con v b way vas Red Se0 S BN e TR B 10,750 5.630 8,929 18,669
Liess: frozen bank deposits) .. cuv saw vae won dow dwn van o wan (3.038) — — —
Cash and-cashiBqmValents cux vas vu v s v s amer 6 s o 55w o 3 s 77,180 110.989 313.936 428.050

Notes:

(1)  Cash equivalents represent cash balances kept in third party payment platform. which can be withdrawn by the Group at any time.
(i) Asat 31 December 2022, bank deposits of RMB3.038.000 were frozen based on the court’s decision as the Group was involved ina legal

litigation. The litigation was ruled in January 2023 and the above-mentioned frozen amount has been released.
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(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group’s habilities from [inancing activities, mcluding both cash and

non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.

Bank and

other Lease

borrowings liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
At L January 2022 e - 7.965 7.965
Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of finance lease rentals paid ................... ... .. ... — (9.956)  (9.956)
Interest element of finance lease rentals paid ... ......................... —— (163) (163)
Other changes:
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases during the year ... .. — 6.518 6,518
[NEEIeSt EXPENSES . o ot vttt ettt e — 163 163
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 . ... ... ... ... oL L 4,527 4,527
Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of finance lease rentals paid . ......... ... ... ....... ... — (5,086)  (5.080)
Interest element of finance lease rentals paid . ......... ... ... ... ... ... — (571) (571)
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings ......... ... ... ... i 25,835 — 25,835
IORETERE PRI cow o v sis o 3 & 5% e & 68 06 H95 W S0E BN OE S SR SE & (234) — (234)
Guarantee fee paid .. ... e (69) - (69)
Other changes:
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into new leases during the year ..... — 23,584 23,584
Early termination of lease contracts ........ ... ... ..., — (416) (416)
Intetest expenses anid Fuaraniee F6€ i swis vp sui vws vvs Vv GuF 5 Fes 5 § 08 5 303 571 874
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 .. .. ... .. ... ... .. ... .. ..., 25,835 22,609 48.444
Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of finance lease rentals paid ... ..... ... ... ... .. ... .o .. — (5,293) (5,293)
Interest element of finance lease rentals paid . ........ . ... ..o il — (900) (900)
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings ... ... ... ... .. il 25,830 — 25830
Payment of bank and other borrowings ......... .. .. .. . i (26,000) —  (26,000)
TETEEE DATT & 0 miim mosie s s ol i snmse 5 s moe muose e Somne suons mssm s SAus s (687) - (687)
Other changes:
Early termination of lease contracts ......... ..., — (367) (367)
THIBTESTERDBISES vaw srom 5 ¥ om0 B B 70 Tind 70 70 © 76 5 70 ¥ 70 6% ¥ i 593 e 687 900 1,587
At 31 December 2024 . ... 25,665 16,949 42,614
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Bank and
other Lease

borrowings  liabilities Total

RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’'000
AtV TAMUATY 2025 . oo o i 00it & o & ot Syas mns mas sipgs S000 wile & v 5,00 4 alem = 25,665 16,949 42,614
Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of finance lease rentals paid .............. ... ... .oiiin.. — (661) (661)
Interestelementof finance lease remtaly pald cuw v s v seon o s s ses s wis o — (315) (313)
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings . ....... .. ... . . o i oL 18,064 - 18,064
Interest paid . ... oo e (359) -— (359)
Other changes:
[nterest expetises aitd puarafitee 68 « vow v vo 2 v v 0 3o o a0 5 s s Bewams W 5 8 359 315 674
AT MaS 2025 5 5ion o5 fos iivs 5% am 058 Ml 506 70 5 50 9 o5 6 w0 SnE Kad 6 6 43,729 16,288 60,017
(unaudited)
AT JARHREY 2024 i s v wam sras v smecs s s e T DA SR S S W 25,835 22,609  48.444
Changes from financing cash flows:
Capital element of finance lease rentals paid ......... ... ... .. ... ... . ... — (1,499) (1.499)
Interest element of finance lease rentals paid ... ........ ... ... ......... —- (392) (392)
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings ............ ... 4,903 — 4,903
Payment of bank and other borrowings ............ ... ... .o o i (5,500) — (5.500)
TEHEEEESt PRI v wose vy s svas 7 5% @ e Wl VRN moe W SCON BN e W R @ (353) — (353)
Other changes:
Early temiination of [easeiCORMaES w.x ws v v woow s s sms soes & om 5 i o on aas » - (366) (366)
Interest expenses and guarantee fee . ......... ... .. . i i 353 392 745
BEITINIY TN o s o omm oo w3 et 6w 90 1 G625 90 § 00 5 FUGE GO MM RN, s 25,238 20,744 45,982

(c) Total cash ouiflow for leases

Amounts included in the cash flow statements for lease rentals paid are as follows:

Within operating cash flows . ................
Within financing cash flows ...

19 Trade payables

Amounts due to third parties ................

Years ended 31 December

Five months ended 31 May
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2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB’0060 RMB’000 RMEB'000 RMB’000
(unaudited)
..... 818 1.028 674 262 409
.............. 10.119 5,657 6,193 1.891 976
10,937 6.685 6,867 2,153 1,385
As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB*000
............. 30,434 31,886 62,285 39,558




The Group’s trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on terms of 30 to 90 days. As of
the end of each of the Track Record Period, the aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as

follows:

Within6omonths ... ... .. .
GMOTNE IO ] V8T wou v s poy 700 siey vai s oy vai vl VAl &
1 B0 ZWBRLE i i sis suthin woabn sitaise s SRS SR MR SR G sebd iR
OVET 2 YBATS .+ o v v vt e et et ettt et e et e e s

20 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

The Group

Amounts due to related parties (Note 28(d))

Amounts due to third parties

Payables for costs incurred in connection with the proposed listing
of the Company SSHATES . v o v ws 0 o ci e sies s socs wwi @ 6
Value added tax and surcharges payable

Accrued payroll and welfare

The Company

Amounts due to subsidiaries (i)

Note:

As at 31 December

As at 31 May

2022 2023 2024

2025

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000
19812 26,847 56,843
1,662 385 559
6,568 1.414 1,039
2,392 3.240 3.844

RMB'000
34,391
469
807
3,891

30,434 31,886 62,285

39,558

As at 31 December

As at 31 May

2022 2023 2024 2025

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
= 184 = -
1,870 2,205 3,079 3,051
4,094 4,073 12,292 8,205
5407 14466 26,649 35570
10,562 8,999 11,721 8,660
21,933 29,927 53,741 55486

As at 31 December

As at 31 May

2022 2023 2024

2025

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
19.949 27,630 47,249

RMB'000
50,134

19,949 27,630 47,249

50,134

(1)  Amounts due to subsidiaries mainly represent listing expenses paid by the Company s subsidiaries, which will be borne by the Company.

All of the accrued expenses and other current liabilities are expected to be settled within one year or are

repayable on demand.
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21 Contract liabilities

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000
Advances for revenue from Yangxiaomie ... R e 15,481 35910 3,822 37,123
Advances foradvertisenteim platemMEnt . uvmmam s asmnimsriisig 3,396 3,732 1,190 1.640

18,877 39,642 5,012 38.763

As at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025, contract liabilities represent receipts in advance of
non-refundable payments made by customers in relation to the Group’s facilitating transactions of goods on the
Group’s online marketplace, Yangxiaomie, and advertisement placement, which are yet to be provided.

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB000  RMB000 RMB 000 RMB000

Revenue recognised during the year/period that was included in the
contract liabilities at the beginning of the year/period ......... 12,303 18,877 39,642 5,012

All contract liabilities at the beginning of each reporting period were recognised as revenue in the respective
reporting period.

22  Bank and other borrowings

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans :

— unsecured and guaranteed by a third party (i) ............... — 5,000 — —
— unsecured and guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group ....... — 10,000 — 15,000
8.000 18,000 21,000

23,000 18,000 36,000

— unsecured and unguaranteed . .......... ... ... i,

Other borrowings :
— unsecured and unguaranteed (i1i) ....... ... . oL = 2,835 7.665 7,729

2,835 7.665 7,729

Notes:

(1) Asat 31 December 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025, the Group’s bank loans are all short-term borrowings, and the annual interest rate of
these bank loans were ranged from 2.9% to 5.67%.

(if) These bank loans are guaranteed by a third party, Beijing Haidian Technology Corporate Finance Guarantee Co.,Ltd. (L5 B 350
FERETR 4 F). with guarantee fee rate of 1.5%.

(1) Other borrowings are non-interest bearing loans from four third parties, which are denominated in United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars. As at 31 December 2023, other borrowings amounted to USD401.000 and mature in 30 to 35 months. As at 31 December 2024,
other borrowings denominated in United States doilars amounted to USDG665,184 and mature in 18 to 29 months, and other borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars amounted to HKD3.218.734 and mature 1n 32 months. As at 31 May 2023, other borrowings
denominated in United States dollars amounted to USD665,184 and mature in 13 to 24 months, and other borrowings denominated in
Hong Kong dollars amounted to HKD3 218,734 and mature in 27 months.
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23 Lease liabilities
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease habilities at the end of
each reporting period:

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMPB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Maturity analysis-contractual undiscounted cash flows

Within 1 yearorondemand ............coiiiiiiriinenrnnn.. 4,448 3,277 5: 187 5,096
After 1 yeat but Within 2 VEArS ... o wmn v e sin ams svem sws o s o 141 5,157 5.037 5,495
After 2 years but within Syears ......... ... oo — 14,652 8.242 6,868
Total undiscounted lease liabilities ........................... 4,589 25,086 18.436 17,459
Less: total future interest eXpenses ... ....vvinveninninaaeann . (62) (2477) (1,487) (1.171)
Present value of lease liabilities . .. .......................... 4,527 22,609 16,949 16,288
Lease liabilities included in the consolidated statements of financial
position

CULIBAL © o ¢ oo o g i svat 55 990 § 66 8% S B WER 950 et W B 4,386 4,352 4,457 4,482
NONM=CUITENL ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 141 18,257 12,492 11.806
Present value of lease liabilities . ... . ......... .. ............. 4.527 22,609 16,949 16,288

24 Financial instruments with preferred rights
(a) Financial instruments with preferred rights issued by the Company

The Company, certain members of the Group and each of the Company’s shareholders have entered into a
shareholders” agreement on 9 May 2022 which mirrors the shareholders” agreement entered into among
Liangkebang and Liangkebang’s shareholders. Details of the Shareholders” Agreement are described in the section
headed “History, Reorganisation and Corporate Structure™ in the Prospectus.

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Agreement, the Preference Investors were granted certain special rights,

among which include redemption rights and liquidation preference rights. Under such preferential rights, the
Preference Investors” investments can be redeemed by the Company or Beijing Xitui Technology Co., Ltd. (11L&
EfERF AR AT Xitu Technology™). upon the occurrence of certain contingent events, including but not
limited to the event that the qualified IPO not being consummated by a specified time. or the change in the
controlling position of the founding shareholders over the Group, at an redemption amount equal to the higher
of:
(i) a return on the original investment amount at a rate of 10% per annum compounded annually, and (ii) the original
investment amount multiply 120% plus all declared but unpaid dividends. The redemption rights have
been terminated upon submission of the application for the Listing on 29 June 2022, except that under the
circumstance where the Company had failed to consummate the qualified IPO under the Shareholders’
Agreement, such right will terminate with effect upon the Listing. The liquidation preference rights will be
automatically terminated with effect upon the Listing.

(b) Presentation and classification

The Company recognised the financial liabilities arising from its obligation to redeem the Preference
Investors™ investments upon the occurrence of any specified contingent redemption events, as not all redemption
events are within the Company or the Group’s control. The financial liabilities were measured at the present value
of the redemption amounts upon such contingent events.
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Any changes 1 the carrying amounts of the financial liabilities were recorded in “changes in the carrying
amounts of financial instruments with preferred rights™ in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The movements of the financial instruments with preferred rights are set out below:

The Group and the Company
As at 31 December As at 31 May

2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB*000 RMB*000 RMB*000 RMB'000

At January ... — 1,415,614 1,557.175 1,712,893
TERHE 5 vain s ok i 59 950 Vo So8 Gon 66 500 480 V5% va Va8 03 1,331,531 — — -
Changes in the carrying amount .............covueunn.n. 84.083 141,561 155,718 69,392

1,415,614 1,557.175 1,712,893 1,782,285

25 Share-based compensation

During the Track Record Period, the employees of the Group are eligible for 2017 Share Incentive Plan and
2018 Share Incentive Plan, which include share options and RSUs respectively.

(a) The 2014 Share Incentive Plan and the 2017 Share Incentive Scheme

On 30 September 2014, the board of directors of Liangkebang approved the 2014 Share Incentive Plan (the
<2014 Plan™) to attract and retain the skilled and experienced personnel and provide additional incentives to
employees, directors and consultants.

Share options to acquire Liangkebang’s shares granted to employees under the 2014 Plan will be exercisable
upon the employee renders service to Liangzi Data in accordance with a stipulated service schedule starting from
the emplovee’s date of employment. Employees are generally subject to a four-year service schedule commencing
from the grant date, under which an employee is entitled to vest in 25% of his option grants annually thereafter of
completed service.

To rationalise the corporate structure in preparing for the mitial public offering of Liangkebang’s shares,
Liangkebang and its subsidiaries underwent a reorganisation to establish Quant Group Limited as the ultimate
holding company. On 30 August 2017, in connection with the previous reorganisation and to mirror the number
and vesting terms of the options originally granted by Liangkebang, Quant Group Limited adopted a new share
incentive plan (2017 Share Incentive Scheme™) approved by the board of directors of Quant Group Limited with
the same terms and conditions of the 2014 Plan. As a result, the 2014 Plan was replaced by the 2017 Share Incentive
Scheme.
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The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

Number of
instruments

Vesting Conditions

Exercise
prices

Share options granted to directors:

—on 30 April 2015 .
—on 30 June 2016 ..
— on 30 August 2016
—on 30 June 2018 ..
— on 01 January 2020

—on 01 January 2021

50,000

50,000

150,000

50.000

200.000

1,000,000

Share options granted to employees:

— on 30 September 20
—on 30 April 2015 .
—on 30 April 2016 .
— on 30 June 2016 . .
—on 30 August 2016

— on 30 October 2016
—on 31 March 2017

—on 01 April 2017 .
—on 30 April 2017 .
—on 12 June 2017 ..

—on 01 September 20

14 ...

[ —

— on 23 September 2017 . . ..

—on 12 October 2017

—on 13 October 2017

— on 20 October 2017

500.000

700,000

580,000

3,130,000

2,740,000

200,000

440,000

190.000

197,905

300,000

200.000

60,000

100,000

60,000

50,000

Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of'the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant

Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
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RMB0.08

RMB0.32

RMB0.32

RMB4.17

RMB4.17

RMB4.17

RMBO0.08

RMBO0.08

RMBO0.32

RMB0.32

RMB0.32

RMB2.99

RMB2.99

RMB2.99

RMB4.17

RMB4.17

RMB4.17

RMB4.17

RMB4.17

RMB4.17

RMB4.17



Number of

Exercise

instruments Vesting Conditions ek
—on 23 October 2017 ... ... 800,000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be RBad?
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
— on 24 October 2017 ...... 20,000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be RMB4.17
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
—on 13 November 2017 .... 1,200,000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be RME1T
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
—on 29 November 2017 . ... 70,000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be RMB4.17
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
—on 01 January 2018 ...... 375.000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be RMB4.17
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
—on 20 June 2018 ....... .. 480,000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be B
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
—on 01 January 2019 ...... 280,000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be RHBALY
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
—on 30 June2019 ......... 380,000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be RMB#17
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
—on 01 January 2020 ...... 1,510,000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be BB
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
—on 30 June 2020 . ........ 610,000 Each 25% of the initial options will vest and be RMB.17
exercisable every 12 months from the date of grant
Total Incentive share
options ................ 16,672,905
Movements in the number of share options granted is as follows:
Weighted
Average
Options Exercise
Outstanding Price
RMB
Outstanding at 1 January 2022 ...t 3,150,000 2.39
FORTETEE i o o on sei v v 5500 5 0 Rt Wi ooy Sy S 0ot 5500 90T oo B VAN B 0 REE 0 (230,000) 4.17
Onitstandinig st 31 DeeSMBer 202D 5 vas i w0 vnd oo 5 06 5 59 ¢ 75 500 050 S08 70 Vel 555 B s 2,920,000 205
POEFEIIB s o cv v o vinom oo ovmms i % svams s o oo o 6 50 Gt e A0 & 926 SN W ah BT B W SR VAT B 4 (500,000) 2.22
Outstanding at 31 December 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025 ... .........oiiiiinn.. 2,420,000 2.25

(b) 2018 Share Incentive Plan

On 30 September 2018, Liangzi Data adopted the Restricted Share Unit Scheme (“2018 RSU Scheme™) by
ways of resolutions of the Board of Directors, for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to employees
and executives who contribute to the development of the Group’s operations.

RSUs granted to employees will be exercisable upon the employee renders service to Liangzi Data in
accordance with a stipuiated service schedule staiting from the grant date.
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The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

Number of
instruments

Vesting Conditions

Exercise prices

RSUs granted to directors:

—on 31 December 2018 ....... ... .. .. ... 10,909,090
—ig1l 31 DECEMbEE202] . v wen von wse ae vt aw 6 3,409,086
—on 31 December 2021 ... ... ... ... . ... .. ... 1,136,362
—on 15 November 2022 ... ... . i 2,288.847
—on 15 November2022 . ¢ o oo on sid vz v w5 1,144,424
—on 15 November 2022 .. ... ... ... ..., 1,144,424
—on 15 November2022 ... ... ... ... 1,144,424
—ioh 15 Neventbet 2022 . . v soon vnw an woas aos www 5 1,144,424
—on24 March2024 .. ... .. ... 7.359,754
—on24March2024 ... . ... e 7,359,754
— O 24 WIAECH 2024, s cvv v soon s v w9s % @ % 7,359,754
—on24 March2024 .. ... ... .. ... . ... 7,359,754
—on30 April 2025 ... 189.394
— GRIPAPHEI 2028 oo imn v wan www v pew s v 189.394
—on30April 2025 ... 189,394
—on30 April 2025 ... 189,394
RSUs granted to employees:
—on 31 December 2018 . ... .. i 9,439,385
—on 31 December2019 ........ ... ..ot 2,424,240
—on 31 December2020 .......c.iiiiiiiininn 8,333,330
—on 31 December 2021 .. .. ... ... ... .. 6,136,359
—on 31 December 2021 .. : vas vis sas wed s s oes s 2,045,453
— 50 1S Novermber 2022 vuw wes v sen aws svw o6 5 0% 2,170,625
—on 15 November 2022 .. .. ... ... .. 1,085.312
—on 15 November 2022 .. ... ... .. ..., 1.085.312
— 011 15 NOVEMbBERZ022: s v wn vws wam s wets e 1,085,312
—on 15 November 2022 .. .. ... ... 1.085.312
—on24March2024 ... ... ... 1,742,423
—on24 March2024 ...c.ioiiiiiiivinaniven o 1,742,422
—on24March2024 ... ... .. ... 1,742,422
—on24 March2024 ... ... . . 1,742,422
—oti 30 APEIl 2025 1« cu o s s s vew a5 o g @ 8 568.181
—iah.30 AP 2025 . o s v wvn i sim o v e v s 568,181
—on30 April 2025 ... 568,181
— it B0 APEL 2025! iy v v ws s s Be s Wi g 568,181
Total Incentive RSUs .. .......................

96,650,726
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Service period 79 months
Service period 43 months
Service period 55 months
Service period 32.5 months
Service period 43 months
Service period 55 months
Service period 67 months
Service period 79 months
Service period 16 months
Service period 24 months
Service period 36 months
Service period 48 months
Service period 12 months
Service period 24 months
Service period 36 months
Service period 48 months

Service period 79 months
Service period 67 months
Service period 55 months
Service period 43 months
Service period 55 months
Service period 32.5 months
Service period 43 months
Service period 55 months
Service period 67 months
Service period 79 months
Service period 16 months
Service period 24 months
Service period 36 months
Service period 48 months
Service period 12 months
Service period 24 months
Service period 36 months
Service period 48 months

RMB0.24
RMB0.45
RMBO0.45
RMB7.50
RMB7.50
RMB7.50
RMB7.50
RMB7.50
RMB0.69
RMB0.69
RMB0.69
RMB0.69
RMBI.60
RMBI1.60
RMBI.60
RMBI.60

RMB0.24
RMB0.29
RMBO0.34
RMBO0.45
RMBO0.45
RMB7.50
RMB7.50
RMB7.50
RMB7.50
RMB7.50
RMB0.69
RMBO0.69
RMB0.69
RMB0.69
RMB1.60
RMBI1.60
RMBI1.60
RMB1.60



Movements in the number of RSUs granted is as follows:

Weighted

Average

RSUs Exercise
Outstanding Price
RMB
Quistanding a1 Taniary BOZD! ¢ o 5 vo 5o 6 v 06 087 by Gy S50 Da Se buls S0 S W 39.439.365 0.32
Gran e . . ot e e e 13.378.416 7.50
BOEEIET o 5 cous v v tovs 508 v 5 90 66 6 00 ¥ 56 el e STl B A 8 R E 00N B SOE US6 GRG0y 6 (3,787,875) 042
Onitstanding at31 Deeember 2022 . oo s v o ism s v siwm o 5 i ks s w056 o wes 95 s 49.029.906 2.27
POEIEIET ... oo vioen s s ums spe Sims s om Bod & 5 5 508 & 6 & oy W el B8 60 0900 5o S0 B (15,606,049)  0.34
Ointstandinig 6631 DEEember 2028 « vaw s van sws v 5 i 05 5o 5908 06 § 93 508 ¥ a8 3 33,423,857  3.17
Granted . .. .ot e e 33,226,890 0.69
BOEFEHET o wooa man v s s soin sranss st 5o Sokis S W7k Watis S Wik SOATH N0 @R W06 K a e (2,727,270)  0.38
CRANCEITBALY | ..0oe vine sios s mnis mimss simin s sstm susmn siais suss swnn syous bus 0 % bips % & 5 & 66 3 (10,196,601)  7.50
Outstanding ot 31 Deemiber 2024 & oo wis sas s s von s s e 2@ 008 e W @ @ 53,726,876 0.55
Granted . .o vttt e e 3,030,300 1.60
BOPTEIEEH oo v o s o i sves son St 000 aied STach svied S0 SR% Shds e Siets WOBCW DI wivE S s (303.030) 0__62
Outstanding at 31 May 2025 .. ..o e 56,454,146 0.59

Note:

(i) In March 2024, the Board of Directors resolved to cancel certain RSUs granted to four employees (the *“Cancellation™) with no compensation
for the Cancellation after negotiation with these employees. The Cancellation was accounted for as accelerated vesting, therefore, the
amount that would otherwise have been recognised for services received is recognised immediately

The weighted average remaining contractual life for RSUs was 7.83 years, 6.96 years, 8.22 years and
7.77 years as of 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025, respectively.

(c) Fair value and assumptions

The Group has applied Binomial Option Pricing Model to determine the fair value of the RSUs/share options
granted. Best estimates of key assumptions are required to be determined by management. Key assumptions used
in determining the fair value of the RSUs/share options granted are as follows:

2017 Share Incentive Scheme 2018 Share Incentive Scheme

Fair value of the underlying shares on the date of option

GransS ...t RMBO0.13 - RMB21.34 RMB1.12 - RMB9.21
Expeeted Volatlity con e som s o s sew som sg os g 51.5% - 72.9% 51.5% - 72.9%
Risk-free interestrate ...........ccviiireeninnen.. 2.47% - 3.81% 1.50% -3.81%
Dividend Yield ........ ... . . i —

As for the 2017 Plan and 2018 RSU Scheme, the expected volatility was referenced to the average of daily
historical share price volatility of comparable companies operating in similar industry of Liangkebang and Liangzi
Data, respectively. The valuation was based on the assumption that no dividends will be distributed. The equity
instruments were granted under service period condition.



(d) Equity-settled share-based payment expenses recognised in the consolidated statements of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income during the Track Record Period:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB'000
(unaudited)
Costofsales ... e 163 (1.602) 2,587 713 806
Research and development expenses . .................. 1.629 (602) 4,618 1,995 2.369
General and administrative expenses ................... 14,031  (5,078) 29,038 14,458 7,795
Sales and marketing expenses ........................ — == 705 177 154

15,823 (7.282) 36,948 17,343 11,124

26 Capital, reserves and dividends
(a) Share capital

The share capital as at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025 represented the issued share capital
of the Company, comprising 500,000,000 shares at USD0.0001 each.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability on
31 March 2022, Its initial authorised share capital of USD50,000 divided into 500,000,000 shares with a par value
of USD0.0001 each. In contemplation of the Listing and to reflect the onshore shareholding structure, the Company
allotted and issued a total of 237,091,500 ordinary shares to the offshore holding companies and a total of
262,908,500 ordinary shares with preferred rights to onshore Preferred Investors™ affiliates in 2022, of which
500,000,000 shares were credited as fully paid with amount of USD50,000.

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Capital reserve

For the purpose of the consolidated financial stalements, the aggregate amount of the paid-in capital of all
the entities comprising the Group at the respective dates were recorded as capital reserve, after
elimination of investments in subsidiaries.

(ii) Fair value reserve (non-recycling)

The fair value reserve (non-recycling) comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of equity
investments designated at FVOCI under IFRS 9 that are held at the end of the reporting period (see Note 2(f)).

(iii) Other reserve

Other reserve comprises the portion of the grant date fair value of share options and RSUs granted to the
employees of the Group that has been recognised in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for share- based
payments in Note 2(q)(ii), less the amount of financial liabilities recognised (see Note 24).

As disclosed in Note 24, the Company recognised the financial liabilities arising from the redemption
obligations at present value of redemption amount, with changes in such carrying amounts being booked in profit
or loss. When the preferential rights are automatically terminated upon the Listing, the carrying amount of the
liabilities will then be reclassified from current liabilities to other reserve with no further gain or loss.
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(iv) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of entities with functional currency other than RMB.
(¢) Dividends

No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company during the Track Record Period.

(d) Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by

pricing products and services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to finance at a
reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and security

afforded by a sound capital position and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

(¢) Movements in components of equity

The changes of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity during the Track Record Period are set
out in the consolidated statements of changes in equity.

Details of changes in the Company’s individual components of equity since its date of incorporation to
31 May 2025 are set out below:

Accumulated Exchange

NLte Share capital  Other reserve losses reserve Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000

At 31 March 2022 ................. — — — — —
Changes in equity for 2022:
Loss and other comprehensive income

for the petiod ... « o van v ¢ an 5 on 5 om — —  (103.,262) 4) (103,266)
Issuance of SHATES: wun wus cos v v v 26(a) 350 — -- — 350
Recognition of financial instruments

with preferred rights .............. 24(b)  — (1,331,531) — — (1.331,531)
Balance at 31 December 2022 and

1January 2023 .................. 350 (1,331,531)  (103,262) 4) (1,434.447)
Change in equity for 2023:
Loss and other comprehensive income

fortheyear ..................... . —  (149,305) _3 (149,302)
Balance at 31 December 2023 and

1 January 2024 . ................. 350 (1,331,531)  (252,567) (1) (1,583,749)

Change in equity for 2024:

Loss and other comprehensive income
fOr thEWEaT « cvi v v o o s s wie i & - —  (173.000) (0] (173,013)
39




Accumulated  Exchange

Noi Share capital  Other reserve losses reserve Total
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB’ 000
Balance at 31 December 2024 and
1January2025. ... .............. 350 (1331,531)  (425,573) (8)  (1.756.762)

Change in equity for five month ended
31 May 2025:
Loss and other comprehensive income
fortheperiod .................... — (72,030) (68) (72,098)

Balance at 31 May 2025 ............ (1,331,531) (497.603) (76) (1,828,860)

L)
L
o

27 Financial risk management and fair values of financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the nommal course of the Group's
business.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity investments in
other entities.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management policies and practices used by the
Group to manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in a financial
loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables and other receivables. The
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are

banks and financial institutions with a minimum credit rating, for which the Group considers to have low credit
risk.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to credit risk as at 31 December
2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on terms between | to 180 days. In some cases,
these terms are extended for certain qualified long-term customers who have met specific credit requirements. The
Group does not have any off-balance-sheet credit exposure related to its customers.

Significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. As at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025, 98.86%, 99.63%, 99.85% and 99.93%, of the
total trade receivables was due from the Group’s five largest debtors.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is

calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience indicate significantly different loss
patterns for different custoiner segments, the Group distinguished the loss allowance between E-commerce services
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customers and other customers. The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and
ECLs for trade receivables as at 31 December 2022, 2023, 2024 and 31 May 2025:

31 December 2022

Gross
Expected  carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

RMB'000 RMB’000

E-commerce services customers

COUFTBIIY <y ¢ o omig b o Sa 205 o' & 60 W0 WEH G0 W as G0e Wam Wes BE o Ses e 1.58% 253,564 3,995

Other customers

L 0.89%  5.558 49

Orverdue Within 3 mionthe . vue o o 2 oo 0w o om0 om0 v wew w wn 5 s wad s s 2.74% 21 1

Oerdus Totethan 1nVEEF 5.5 5 sinon 5 o 5s @ 5o 500 5 o6 500 555 % 06 200 955 V5 8 § 100.00% 544 544
259,687 4,589

Provision on individual basis for a specific eustomer .. ................... 11,545 8.416

31 December 2023

Gross
Expected  carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

RMB’000  RMB'000
E-commerce services customers

CUEEBIIE « i woins oo snwts R Sowis Tt SOde SORTs AT SOATH SPATR SHPE VIS PO SO SO SN0 SR 1.58% 421,526 6,641
Other customers
CUITEIE o ottt et e e e e e 0.07% 18,379 12
Overdue within 3months .. ... ... .. . 0.30%  6.891 21
Overdue after 3 months but within 6 months ........... .. ... ... ... ....... 0.95% 1 *
Overdue after 6 months but within9months . ............................ 5.60% 2 *
Overdue after 9 months but within T year ......... ... ... .o ... 90.00% 3 3
OveTdiienons thatl 1 AT o wee wes ax v owe ms © 59 00 © S5 @8 7 P 54 8 BT a8 & 66 100.00% 547 547
447,349 7,224
Provision on individual basis for a specific customer .. . ......... .. ... ... 11,545 8.416

458,894 15,640

¥ Amount less than RMB500.

31 December 2024

Gross
Expected  carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
el

RMB'000  RMB*000
E-commerce services customers

CUFIBAL cr o v imn v womme s soans ke wame S 2 96 0 G055 Gl G 0GR S04 WIS SR G5 Sl SERO0 1.58% 619,155 9,783

Other customers

COHENE rat 5l 5 Db S o0k ok 506 VA8 b b T8 06 wab T S F5E 10 whe 5 0.09% 28,153 24

Dverduempreithan L YEAE wuo seu vam 5o s wivd w5 7608 596 708 S WK V8 a5 5 100.00% 553 553
647,861 10,360

Provision on individual basis for a specific customer . .. ................ .. 915 —

648.776 10,360
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31 May 2025

Gross
Expected  carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

RMB000 RMB'000
E-commerce services customers

CCHITEAY o o sion 55 % 0 o 3 90 Tol SO0 050 05 5 55 5 48 B6E § 0 S0 a5 wels Wi 1.58% 727,520 11,495
Other customers

CUITEN .« o e e e e e e e e e e e e 0.09% 26,718 24
Crverdue VAtHIN 3 MBHTHS con vew wee swis wos sem soes s e 56 & 906 5676 H0E 945 9 855 0.57% 735

Overdue after 3 months but within 6 months .......... .. ... ... .. ... ...... 1.71% 379

Overdue more than [ year .. ...ttt i 100.00% 553 553

755,905 12,082

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables during the year are as follows:

Five months

Years ended 31 December ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Balanceat | January .......... .. ... 3,169 13,005 15,640 10,360
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) during the year/period (i) ... 9,836 2,635  (5,280) 1,722
Balance at 31 December/31 May . ..., 13.005 15.640 10,360 12,082

Note:

(1) Asat 31 December 2022 and 2023, the Group measured loss allowances for trade receivables from a customer involved in htigation based
on individual basis, In 2024, the above-mentioned customer repaid RMB10,130.000 to the Group following the court’s judgment. and the
Group reversed impairment losses of RMB7.000,000 on these trade receivables accordingly.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the Group measures loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-months ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated based on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions at the
reporting date. The Group considers that its exposure to credit risk arising from default of the counterparties is
limited.

(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy 1s to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements, and to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to
meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.



The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting
period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

As at 31 December 2022

contractual undiscounted cash outflow
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Carrying
amounts in the
More than  More than consolidated
1 year but 2 years but statements of
Within 1 year less than less than More than financial
or on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total position
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade payables (Note 19) ......... 30,434 - = — 30,434 30,434
Lease liabilities (Note 23) ........ 4,448 141 — — 4,589 4,527
Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities (Note 20) ........... 21,933 — — — 21,933 21,933
Financial instruments with preferred
rights (Note 24) .............. 1,415,614 — — — 1,415,614 1.415.614
1,472,429 141 — — 1,472,570 1,472,508
As at 31 December 2023
contractual undiscounted cash outflow
Carrying
amounts in the
More than  More than consolidated
1 year but 2 years but statements of
Within 1 year  less than less than More than financial
or on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total position
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade payables (Note 19) .. ....... 31,886 - _— — 31,886 31,886
Bank and other borrowings
NG B2) o v e v voome e & 23,608 — 2,835 — 26,443 25,835
Lease liabilities (Note 23) ........ 5,277 5,157 14,652 — 25,086 22,609
Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities (Note 20) ........... 29,927 —_ — — 29,927 29,927
Financial instruments with preferred
rights (Note 24) .............. 1,557,175 —_ — — 1,557,175 1,557,175
1,647,873 5,157 17,487 — 1,670,517 1,667,432
As at 31 December 2024
contractual undiscounted cash outflow
Carrying
amounts in the
More than  More than consolidated
1 year but 2 years but statements of
Within 1 year  less than less than ~ More than financial
or on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total position
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade payables (Note 19) ......... 62,285 — — — 62,285 62,285
Bank and other borrowings
NOte22) wun vas v woii wam o 5 18,413 —_ 7,665 — 26,078 25,665
Lease liabilities (Note 23) ........ 3,157 5,037 8,242 — 18,436 16,949
Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities (Note 20) ........... 53,741 — — — 53,741 53,741
Financial instruments with preferred
rights (Note 24) . ............. 1,712,893 — — — 1,712,893 1,712,893
1,852,489 5,037 15,907 = 1,873,433 1,871,533




As at 31 May 2025
contractual undiscounted cash outflow

Carrying
amounts in the
More than  More than consolidated
1 year but 2 years but statements of
Within 1 year  less than less than More than financial
or on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total position
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade payables (Note 19) .. ....... 41,416 — — — 41.416 39.558
Bank and other borrowings
NGFEDD) & nw snw ows s o s 37,310 - 7,665 — 44,975 43,729
Lease liabilities (Note 23) ........ 5,096 5,495 6,868 = 17,459 16,288
Accrued expenses and other current
liabilities (Note 20) ........... 19.916 — — —— 19.916 19,916
Financial instruments with preferred
rights (Note 24) .............. 1,782,285 — — — 1,782,285 1,782,285
1,886,023 5,495 14,533 — 1.906.051 1,901.776

(¢c) Interest risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arising from lease liabilities, bank and
other borrowings and financial instruments with preferred rights is not significant as these financial instruments
primarily are at fixed rate.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through financing which give rise to cash and cash equivalents
and other borrowings balances that are denominated in a currency other than the functienal currency of the Group’s
subsidiaries to which they relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily USD and HKD.

(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of each reporting period to currency risk arising
from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using the
spot rates at the respective year/period end dates. Differences resulting from the translation of financial statements
of foreign operations into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 May 2025

Asset Liability Asset Liability Asset Liability Asset Liability
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000  RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000
USD .............. — — 240 2.835 25 5,357 24 4,779
HKD .............. — — 610 — 3,616 — 3.460 2,951
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(ii)  Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase or decrease in exchange rate of each
foreign currency against RMB, while all other variables are held constant. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items at the end of each of the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2022 As at 31 December 2023 As at 31 December 2024 As at 31 May 2025
HKD UsD HKD uUspD HKD UsD HKD usb
RMB000  RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'W000 RMB000 RMB'000

Increase/(decrease) in profit
after tax for the year/
period:

— if RMB weakens against

foreign currencies . ... ... — — 56 (239) 332 (489) 47 (436)
— if RMB strengthens

against foreign

CUFTENCIES .+ v vvv v, — — (56) 239 (332) 489 (47) 436

28 Material related party transactions

The Group entered into the following significant related party transactions during the Track Record Period:
(a) Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel are those persons holding positions with authority and responsibility for planning,

directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including the Company s directors.

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note §:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
(unaudited)
Short-term employee benefits) . womsmsmsmssisesassos 16,194 12.817 12,553 4,138 5,670
Equity-settled share-based payment.........cccoooveiiiiiiiiinnn 8.866 (2,458) 35,699 9.342 8.997

25,060 10,359 48,252 13,480 14,667

Total remuneration was included in “staff costs”™ (see Note 6(b)).

(b) During the Track record Period, transactions with the following parties are considered as related party

transactions:

Name of parties Relationship with the Group
KEEHERPRERAT

TianjinZimu Jinke Teehnology Coj, Ld¥ s Controlled by an executive director
A B PHSERECREIR AT

Hainan Zimu Network Technology Co., Ltd-* ....ccocooviiiiiiiniiiiiiiene, Controlled by an executive director
CAE A RPN = AR =)= s Bt

Yingtan Xinjiang Guangda Microfinance Co.. Ltd.*.......cc.ccco v Controlled by an executive director
I HYE BEATAER AE

Ningbo Zimu Information Technology Co., Ltd.*...cccoccovviiiiiieniiennn Controlled by an executive director
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Name of parties Relationship with the Group

IEEERFHERRTAERAE

Beijing Liangkebang Information Technology Co., Ltd.* ..., Controlled by an executive director
KT R LR EIRAE

TizgfinQuanpal Trding Co, LY cesnmmmrss sussmasnms Controlled by an executive director
I REFEARAE

Beijing Quantity Star Technology Co.. Ltd.* ..o Controlled by an executive director
I EHHERIRAE

Beijing Xitui Technology Co., Ltd.* ..o Controlled by an executive director
I REH AR A E

Beijing Yutong Technology Co.; Ltd. ¥.coovie v Controlled by an executive director

*  English names of these companies are for reference only and have not been registered.

(c) Significant transactions with related parties

The principal transactions which were carried out in the ordinary course of business are as follows:

Years ended 31 December Five months ended 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2024 2025
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB000
(unaudited)
Revenue from financial institutions
Yingtan Xinjiang Guangda Microfinance Co., Ltd. .. ... ... 9,358 14,161 12,908 10,986 —
Trade receivables extension fee
Yingtan Xinjiang Guangda Microfinance Co., Ltd. .. ... ... — — 7,102 — —
New loans to a related party
Beijing Xitui Technology Co., Ltd. ........ ... ... ... .. 160 - — — -
Loan principals proceeded from a related party
Beijing Xitui Technology Co., Ltd. .................... 160 — — = —
Proceeds from disposal of the financial assets
Tianjin Zimu Jinke Trading Co., Ltd. . . ... ... ... ... 51,000 — — — —

Prepayments for acquisition of properties from a related

party (i):
Hainan Zimu Network Technology Co., Ltd. . ............ 29,000 — — — e
Recovering prepayments for acquisition of properties

and compensation from a related party (i):
Hainan Zimu Network Technology Co., Ltd. . ............ —  30.450 — —
Note:
(1) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group made a prepayment to Hainan Zimu to acquire a property in Hainan and the Group

recovered the above-mentioned prepayments with amount of RMB29.000.000 from Hainan Zimu in 2023 together with compensation
with amount of RMB1.,450.000 (see Note 15).
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(d) Balances with related parties as at the end of each reporting period

As at 31 December As at 31 May
2022 2023 2024 2025
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Trade in nature
Trade receivables

Yingtan Xinjiang Guangda Microfinance Co.,Ltd. ............. 244,244 421,526 619,554 727,520
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Beijing Yutong TechtiologyCol; Ltd: o on oo sin snn v v v e - 184 — -

Non-trade in nature
Prepaid expenses and other receivables

Yingtan Xinjiang Guangda Microfinance Co., Ltd.* ............ - 3.634 —
Other non-current assets
Hainan Zimu Network Technology Co., Ltd. .................. 29,000 — — —
Amounts due from certain sharcholders of the Company

BT vox con vos o aos o By 405 SO SE W ETE SEE HEE AEY & 213 — — —
*

The Prepaid expenses and other receivables from Yingtan Xinjiang Guangda Microfinance Co.. Ltd. was fully settled in March 2025.

29 Disposal of subsidiaries

During the Track Record Period, Hainan Liangdian Technology Co., Ltd. (jpet#E##H R/, 5" Hainan
Liangdian™) and Hainan Liangneng Technology Co., Ltd. ( jEpd saE #1475 R 7 Hainan Liangneng™) were
disposed of by the Group.

On 11 January 2022, the Group has entered into a contract with non-related individuals, to transfer its 100%
equity interests in Hainan Liangneng at a consideration of RMB100,000, recognising gain on disposal of a
subsidiary amounting to RMB33,000.

On 8 May 2022, the Group has entered into a contract with a third party to transfer its 100% equity interests
in Hainan Liangdian at a consideration of RMB1,100,000.

The financial information of Hainan Liangdian, at the date of disposal in 2022, is as follows:

Hainan Liangdian

RMB’000
CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables .. ...... .. ... ... .. ... ... ... ... 7
Cash andicashBEUIVAIEIE wu v wuon wmi sus @ sovs s i s WSt fane s S5 86 ¥ 4 da o 3 560
Trade TeeiVablES: v on sus vion T Eof s g Ve T Tup F45 e e TR0 T inE 58 Pe 8 807
TENMEIEOLN s snass swors somme soss sinie DK ST S50 QASE QS WSS SRy V606 S0ATR Froutl WURNY SR 6 W e a0 & 3 37
1,411
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Tradeand billepayables. « v« vs v o won wen ws s sws can 3 o ves wis ses B ves san vee 2 592
Other payables and accruals ... .. ..o i e N .
716
NET/CURRENT ASBETS .x it it s wis ihosan & s S5 540 s soals Fa s S 96% 35 4 it s 4 695
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES ... ... ... ...ttt 695
NET ASSETS: « 155 5 & 0 5 5 5o 500 Fuk 20 555 5ell S0 5he 100 med 05 SaE Bl iy 1 558 5% 5 693



Hainan Liangdian

RMB’000

Consideration of disposal

Cash Consideration received/receivable ... ... i i 1,100
FEBBUNELASEEIS, v 4 s o 5500 5,50 S5 45 Gid 5508 Subip 5iin Sl e ssoms mvos shone sperm Seie siese smen mmme o 695
Gain o tdispogal 618 Subsi Ay i nmmmmsmrms s s R TR B fe 405
Net cash outflow arising on disposal

Total cash consideration received ... ... o 1,100
Less: cash and cash equivalents disposed of subsidiaries .............. ..o iiiiiin... 560
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal ..................... 540

30 Events after the reporting period

There were no material subsequent events after 31 May 2025 and up to date of this report.

31 Immediate and ultimate controlling party

The directors of the Company consider the ultimate controlling party of the Company as at 31 May 2025 to
be Mr. Zhou Hao.

32 Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective for the
accounting period beginning on 1 January 2025

Up to the date of this report, the IASB has issued a number of amendments and new standards which are not
yet effective for the accounting period beginning on 1 January 2025 and which have not been adopted in
the consolidated financial statements. These developments include the following.

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7: Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity . . 1 January 2026
Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7: Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of

FInancicl TRSIFUMIEIILS ............c..oooiiio e oe e et 1 January 2026
Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 ... 1 January 2026
IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Stements........................ccccivviiieiiiiiiniin, 1 January 2027
IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: DiscloSUIres. ................ccooevioeiveiieien 1 January 2027

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
TS IOASSOCIHIIE D8 JOUNIE VERIEUE Glcisvivwsiincsiavins e s sy o sy 5 i a0 SN S o ST To be decided

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these developments are expected
to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements except for the following:

IFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

IFRS 18 will replace IAS | Presentation of financial statements and aims to improve the transparency and
comparability of information about an entity’s [inancial statements. IFRS 18 is effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after | January 2027 and is to be applied retrospectively.
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Among other changes, under IFRS 18, entities are required to classify all income and expenses into five
categories in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, namely the operating, investing.
financing, discontinued operations and income tax categories. Entities are also required to provide specific
disclosures about management-defined performance measures in a single note in the financial statements.

The Group does not plan to early adopt IFRS 18. IFRS 18 will impact the presentation of financial statements
and is not expected to have significant impact on the financial performance and positions of the Group.
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